
 
 
 

 
PLANNING AND DEVELOPMENT COMMITTEE 

 
Date: Tuesday, 10 January 2023 

Time: 6.30pm, 
Location: Council Chamber 

Contact: Ian Gourlay 01438 242703 
committees@stevenage.gov.uk 

 
 
Members: Councillors:  M Downing (Chair), A Brown (Vice-Chair), M McKay, S Barr, 

T Callaghan, C Howells, G Lawrence CC, Mrs J Lloyd, 
A Mitchell CC, C Parris, G Snell, A Wells and Ashley-Wren 

 
_______________________________________________________________________________ 

AGENDA 
 

PART 1 
 

1.   APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE AND DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST   
 

2.   DRAFT DESIGN GUIDE SUPPLEMENTARY PLANNING DOCUMENT 
 
To receive an update on the Draft Design Guide Supplementary Planning Document 
(SPD). 

 
3.   22/00833/FP AND 22/00833/LB - 67 - 69 HIGH STREET, STEVENAGE 

(DEAMERS) 
 
To consider a change of use from Use Class E (Shop) to Sui Generis (Betting Office) 
with repainting of brickwork, installation of new shop front, 2 no. satellite dishes and air 
conditioning units. 

 
Pages 3 – 24 
 

4.   22/00834/AD - 67 - 69 HIGH STREET, STEVENAGE (DEAMERS) 
 
To consider the installation of 1 no. externally illuminated fascia sign and 1 no. externally 
illuminated projecting sign. 

 
Pages 25 – 34 
 

5.   INFORMATION REPORT - DELEGATED DECISIONS 
 
To note a report on decisions taken by the Assistant Director Planning and Regulatory in 
accordance with his delegated authority. 

 
Pages 35 – 58 
 
 

Public Document Pack



 

6.   INFORMATION REPORT - APPEALS/CALLED IN APPLICATIONS 
 
To note a report on decisions taken by the Assistant Director Planning and Regulatory in 
accordance with his delegated authority. 

 
Pages 59 – 68 
 

7.   URGENT PART I BUSINESS 
 
To consider any Part I Business accepted by the Chair as urgent. 

 
8.   EXCLUSION OF THE PRESS AND PUBLIC 

 
To consider the following motions that: 
 

1. Under Section 100(A) of the Local Government Act 1972, the press and 
public be excluded from the meeting for the following item of business on 
the grounds that it involved the likely disclosure of exempt information as 
described in paragraphs 1-7 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Act as 
amended by Local Government (Access to information) (Variation) Order 
2006. 

 

2. That Members consider the reasons for the following reports (if any)being 
in Part II and determine whether or not maintaining the exemption from 
disclosure of the information contained therein outweighs the public 
interest in disclosure. 

 
9.   URGENT PART II BUSINESS 

 
To consider any Part II Business accepted by the Chair as urgent. 
 

 
 
Agenda Published 23 December 2022 

 



 Part I – Release 
to Press 

 
 
 

 
 

Meeting: Planning and Development 
Committee 

Agenda Item:  

Date: 10 January 2023  

Author: Linda Sparrow 07931 863551 

Lead Officer: Zayd Al-Jawad 01438 245257  

Contact Officer: Linda Sparrow 07931 863551  

 

Application No : 22/00833/FP and 22/00835/LB 

Location : 67 – 69 High Street, Stevenage, Herts 

Proposal : 22/00833/FP: 

Change of use from Use Class E (Shop) to Sui Generis (Betting 
Office) with repainting of brickwork, installation of new shop front, 2 
no. satellite dishes and air conditioning units. 

 

22/00835/LB: 

Internal alterations to ground floor layout and external alterations 
including new fire escape, removal of entrance ramp, replacement 
shopfront, 2no. satellite dishes and 2no. air conditioning units. 
 

Drawing Nos.: Site Location Plan; FINAL-NL-170722-500; FINAL-NL-170722-502; NL-
170722-101-A; NL-170722-102-A; FINAL/NL/170722/501-D; FINAL-NL-
170722-503-C; 

Applicant : Boyle Sports (UK) Limited 

Date Valid: 15 September 2022 

Recommendation : GRANT PLANNING PERMISSION  

GRANT LISTED BUILDING CONSENT 

 
 

 
 Image for information only 

Page 3

Agenda Item 3



- 2 - 

1. SITE DESCRIPTION 

1.1. The application site is located on the eastern side of the High Street, at the southern end 

and adjacent to the entrance of the pedestrianised street of Middle Row to the north.  To the 

south are commercial units and the pedestrianised stretch of Albert Street.  To the west is 

an area of cobbled highway with the vehicular highway of High Street beyond whilst to the 

rear (east) is the vehicular highway of Church Lane with residential dwellings beyond.  

1.2. The property is a Grade II Listed Building within the Old Town Conservation Area.  The 

property dates to the 18th century (or earlier) and is of red brick construction with a clay tile 

roof. There are various gabled extensions to the rear, both old and new.   The ground floor 

shopfront is brown timber framed with large windows above a dwarf brick wall (stall riser), 

whilst the first floor is painted white brickwork with black timber framed windows.  There is a 

black painted frieze and a variety of vinyl signage and one large black lantern light.  The 

current occupier of the premises uses the large cobbled pedestrian highway area to the front 

of the store to display a variety of goods for sale. 

2. RELEVANT PLANNING HISORY 

2.1 99/00379/LB Two Storey Rear Extension 26.01.2000. Granted. 
 
2.2 99/00381/FP Two Storey Rear Extension 26.01.2000.  Granted.  
 
2.3 04/00389/FP Single storey rear extension to shop 29.11.2004 PER 
 
2.4 04/00490/LB Application for listed building consent for demolition of existing rear canopy, 

erection of single storey rear extension to shop and internal alterations to enlarge retail area 
29.11.2004.  Granted.  

 
2.5 10/00488/FP Conversion of first floor and part rear ground floor to form 4no. one bedroom 

flats. 20.12.2010. Granted.  
 
2.6 10/00489/LB Listed building consent for the conversion of first floor and part rear ground 

floor to form 4no. one bedroom flats. 20.12.2010. Granted.  
 
2.7 21/01102/LB Strip off defective roof tiles and tiling battens, replace breathable roofing 

membrane, supply and fix treated timber battens and re-tile using handmade clay plain tiles 
26.11.2021.  Granted. 

3. THE CURRENT APPLICATION  

3.1 The proposal seeks planning permission for the change of use of the existing retail shop 

(Use Class E) to a betting shop (Use Class Sui Generis) and the erection of 2no. air 

conditioning units and 2no. satellite dishes.  Matters relating to the advertisement signage 

are under consideration under a separate application (22/00834/AD).  In regard to the Listed 

Building Consent application, this seeks approval for the air conditioning units, satellite 

dishes and for works necessary to facilitate the proposed change of use.  These associated 

works are as follows: 

 Replace deteriorating timber shopfront and door with new traditional timber shopfront 
and door;  

 Ancillary un-traditional door to be replaced with traditional brickwork;  

 Sensitive paintwork (blue to match RAL 5002);  

 2 no. satellite dishes and 2 no. A/C condenser units at the rear; 

Page 4



- 3 - 

 Relocation of staff room;   

 Relocation of customer service desk;  

 Introduction of fire escape route;  

 Introduction of customer toilets;   

 Introduction of internal door at foot of staircase to first floor storage;  

 Removal of entrance ramp; 

 1 no. externally illuminated BoyleSports fascia sign; 

 1 no. externally illuminated BoyleSports projecting sign; 

 New BoyleSports vinyl displays on the inside of the shopfront glazing. 
 
3.2 These applications come before the planning committee as they were called in by 

Councillor Jim Brown.  

4. PUBLIC REPRESENTATIONS  

4.1 Following notification of the applications via letter, the erection of site notices and a press 

notice in the local newspaper, public representations have been received from the following: 

 Boston House, Park Place 

 Business & Technology Centre occupant 

 13 Church Lane 

 44 Grove Road 

 1 Morgan Close 

 2 Woodland Way 

 Elias Topping on behalf of un-named local business 

 Southend Close Community Hall users 
 

4.2 A summary of the objections raised are set out as follows: 

 Unit is ideal for outdoor seating for a restaurant 

 Betting shops attract negative activity 

 Need better quality places to socialise, eat and gather, not betting shops 

 Will encourage gambling, likely causing more addictions and debt 

 Does the High Street need another betting shop? 

 Article 4 Directions should be made to restrict the numbers of each business type in the 
High Street and Town Centre 

 Better uses would fulfil a gap in the market 

 The painting of the listed building would change the character of the building and not 
be fitting with the area 

 Would negatively impact the surrounding area 

 People’s lives are ruined by gambling, the Council should not allow an increase in 
number of betting shops 

 Fails to accord with Policy TC10 of the Local Plan due to loss of retail unit and fails to 
satisfy criteria of non-retail uses 

 Fails to accord with Policy TC9 of the Local Plan as it fails to preserve or enhance the 
heritage asset and is not a retail use 

 Fails to accord with Policy SP8 of the Local Plan as it does not create a healthy 
environment and will not encourage an inclusive community due to age restrictions of 
patrons 

 Will likely encourage crime and disorder and increase the fear of crime 
 
4.3 The aforementioned is not a verbatim copy of the objections which have been raised. Full 

copies of the representations received can be viewed on the Council’s website.   

Page 5



- 4 - 

5. CONSULTATIONS  

5.1. Historic England 

5.1.1 Historic England provides advice when our engagement can add most value. In this case 
we are not offering advice.  We suggest that you seek the views of your specialist 
conservation and archaeological advisers. 

 

5.2 Herts County Council as Highways Authority 

5.2.1 The site fronts a wide public footpath, changes to the site are essentially the frontage of the 

building and signing. Illuminance levels of the lit signs at 250 cd/m2 are well within the 

existing standards.  The projecting signs are above the 2.3m required from ground level to 

the bottom of the sign. Subject to the informatives, this level of development is unlikely to 

generate any extra movements which would ultimately lead to demonstrable harm to the 

highway network in terms of free flow and capacity, therefore; the highway authority would 

not wish to restrict the grant of planning permission. Notice is given under article 22 of the 

Town and Country Planning (Development Management Procedure) (England) Order 2015 

that Hertfordshire County Council as Highway Authority does not wish to restrict the grant of 

permission. 

5.3 B.E.A.M.S (The Council’s Conservation and Listed Building Advisor) 

5.3.1 The interior at ground floor level has been extensively altered and all historic internal 
partitions have been removed. As such there is no objection to the minor internal alterations 
to the ground floor layout.  The 2 new air-conditioning units are concealed behind existing 
gates to rear (Church Lane) elevation so will not be publicly visible - no objection. The 
existing timber shopfront is relatively modern and there is no issue with its replacement in 
principle. However, it is recommended the design is amended/enhanced. It is 
recommended the new glazed shopfront incorporates glazing (with suitably spaced timber 
mullions) above a stall riser along its length (instead of brick blocking the existing unused 
door opening).  The existing shopfront has a simple moulded timber fascia, this should 
either be retained, or a new shopfront created with integral timber fascia with pilasters, 
consoles and other traditional shopfront detailing - the necessary signage can be applied to 
this.  The large vinyl to the arch headed door and the internal light boxes do not really 
respect the character of the Old Town Conservation Area.   The 2 satellite dishes to the rear 
are obtrusively sited upon the Church Lane elevation and detract from the character and 
appearance of this part of the Conservation Area. Setting them back from the Church Lane 
elevation so they are less visually intrusive is recommended. 

 

 Further Comments received 18 November 2022 upon receipt of amended plans:  

5.3.2 The timber shopfront design is satisfactory as is the externally illuminated signage. 
However, BEAMS has concerns over the vinyl signs which are visually intrusive. BEAMS 
takes the view that these would require Listed Building consent and do not consider them 
an acceptable addition to the listed building and to detract from the Conservation Area 
street scene.  The proposed internal light boxes (5 in all) are considerable in number, and 
we would prefer a reduction in number and / or containing their use to the main shop front 
and not the window to the side. If these are deemed acceptable their illumination should be 
controlled. Having seen these types of signs in operation within a betting shop window 
recently I was struck by how bright and garish they are, particularly at night hence raising 
concerns at this stage. Details of the shopfront door should either be provided or detailed 
via condition, a traditional door design is expected (the plans are not sufficiently clear).  
One of the satellite dishes to the rear has been relocated to a less prominent position, as 
such the single satellite dish to the gable end will result in less visual clutter than initially 

Page 6



- 5 - 

proposed - so acceptable in principle.  Recommend the vinyl signs are removed from the 
current application and that the other issues are dealt with via condition or as appropriate. 

 

5.4 Environmental Health 

5.4.1 No objection subject to conditions relating to noise and contamination. 

6. RELEVANT PLANNING POLICIES  

6.1.   Background to the Development Plan 

 
6.1.1 Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 provides that the 

decision on the planning application should be in accordance with the development plan 
unless material considerations indicate otherwise. For Stevenage the statutory 
development plan comprises: 

 
• The Stevenage Borough Council Local Plan 2011-2031 
• Hertfordshire Waste Development Framework 2012 and Hertfordshire Waste Site 

Allocations Development Plan Document (adopted 2012 and 2014); and 
• Hertfordshire Minerals Local Plan 2002 – 2016 (adopted 2007). 

 
6.2       Central Government Advice 
 
6.2.1 A revised National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) was published in July 2021. This 

largely reordered the policy substance of the earlier 2012 version of the NPPF albeit with 
some revisions to policy. The Council are content that the policies in the Local Plan are in 
conformity with the revised NPPF and that the Local Plan should be considered up to date 
for the purpose of determining planning applications. The NPPF provides that proposals 
which accord with an up-to-date development plan should be approved without delay 
(para.11) and that where a planning application conflicts with an up-to-date development 
plan, permission should not usually be granted (para.12). This indicates the weight which 
should be given to an up-to-date development plan, reflecting the requirements of section 
38(6) of the 2004 Act.   

 

6.3 Planning Practice Guidance 
 

The PPG contains guidance supplementing the NPPF and with which Members are fully 
familiar.  The PPG is a material consideration to be taken into account together with the 
National Design Guide (2019) which has the same status as the PPG. 

 
6.4 Adopted Local Plan (2019)  
 
6.4.1 The policies set out below are relevant in the determination of this application: 
 
 SP1 - Presumption for Sustainable Development; 
 SP2 - Sustainable Development in Stevenage; 
 SP4 – A Vital Town Centre; 
 SP8 - Good Design; 
 SP9 - Healthy Communities; 
 SP11 - Climate Change, Flooding and Pollution; 
 SP13 – Historic Environment; 
 GD1 - High Quality Design; 
 IT5 - Parking and Access; 
 FP1 - Climate Change; 
 FP7 - Pollution 

Page 7



- 6 - 

 NH10 – Conservation Areas; 
 TC9 – High Street Shopping Area; 
 TC10 – High Street Primary & Secondary Frontages 
  
6.5 Supplementary Planning Documents  
 
 Parking Provision Supplementary Planning Document October 2020 
 Stevenage Design Guide Supplementary Planning Document January 2009. 
 Old Town Conservation Area Management Plan 2012 
 
6.6 Community Infrastructure Levy 
 
 Stevenage Borough Council adopted a Community Infrastructure Levy Charging Schedule in 

2020. This allows the Council to collect a levy to fund infrastructure projects based on the 
type, location and floorspace of a development. 

7. APPRAISAL  

7.1.1 The main issues for considerations in the determination of these applications are the 

acceptability of the proposal in land use policy terms, the impact on the listed building, 

impact on the character and appearance of the conservation area, impact on neighbouring 

properties and car parking provision.  

7.1.2 Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires that all planning 

applications must be determined in accordance with the Development Plan unless material 

considerations indicate otherwise. 

7.2 Land Use Policy Considerations 

7.2.1 The property is located within the High Street Shopping Area (HSSA) and is defined to fall 

within the primary retail frontage.  Accordingly, regard must be had to Policies TC9 and 

TC10.  

7.2.2 Policy TC9 states that within the HSSA, permission will be granted for development which 
falls within Use Classes A1, A2, A3, A4, C1, C3, D1 or D2.  Para. 7.63 of this policy goes 
on to state that the High Street forms the spine of the Major Centre, as designated within 
this plan's retail hierarchy. It contains a broad mix of uses but 27% of the floorspace is 
convenience (food) shopping (primarily Waitrose (now the Old Town Food Centre) and a 
Tesco Express) whilst 23% is comparison shopping. The High Street also has a larger than 
usual proportion of bars and restaurants, emphasising its important role in the Borough's 
leisure offer. It is a busy, well used and popular centre, but one that fulfils both a mixed 
town-wide and purely local function. The Council wishes to maintain that flexibility of uses, 
but also wishes to provide a clear framework of acceptable uses. 

 
7.2.3 Since the adoption of the Local Plan, the Government has amended the Use Class Order, 

including creating a new Class E which includes the previous classes of A1, A2, A3, B1, 
some of D1, and D2.  The Government’s intent is to create more flexibility within Town 
Centres and High Streets. Notwithstanding this, betting shops operate under Sui Generis 
which are not included in Policy TC9 nor the revised Class E uses.  

 
7.2.4 Annex 2 of the NPPF (2021) sets out uses which are acceptable in Town Centres and 

includes leisure uses.  The applicant asserts that betting shops should be considered as a 
leisure use and therefore acceptable as a town centre or HSSA use.  The Council 
disagrees with this statement because if a betting shop was a leisure use then it would be 

Page 8



- 7 - 

categorised under one of the leisure use classes E(d) or F2 (previously D1 or D2).  In this 
regard, the proposed development is contrary to Policy TC9. 

 
7.2.5 Turning to Policy TC10, this identifies that the application site falls within the primary retail 

frontage of the High Street shopping area.  In this regard, uses other than A1, A2, A3 and 
A4 (now Class E) will only be granted permission where: 

 The proposal retains an active frontage 

 The proposal will generate footfall equivalent to, or greater than, a normally 
acceptable A-Class use; and 

 The unit has been unsuccessfully marketed for normally acceptable A-Class use or 
has remained vacant for a considerable amount of time. 

 
7.2.6 Whilst comments from local residents about the betting shops not having active frontages 

as the windows are obscured and cannot be seen into, the Council does not agree with this 
stance and believes that the retention of the shopfront, with glass windows and a door, is 
an active frontage that allows patrons to pass through.  A non-active frontage would be a 
blank brick wall.  The Council is satisfied that the proposed development would have an 
active frontage and is acceptable in this regard.  

 
7.2.7 With regards to footfall, the applicant has provided evidence, by way of an appeal decision 

(Harrow, April 2020 – APP/M5450/W/19/3241217, paragraphs 14 and 15), that states that 
betting shops are a strong footfall generator.  The Council has been unable to find evidence 
to the contrary and so feel it is appropriate to include the applicant’s argument below.  In 
this regard, the Council agrees with the position that a betting shop would provide 
equivalent footfall to the previous A1 retail shop and is acceptable in this regard. 

 
“The research concluded that the appellant’s premises was a strong footfall 
generator within Harrow Metropolitan Town Centre (HMTC), being the most visited 
unit amongst those that were surveyed. In addition, it found that a significant 
proportion of those that visit the betting shop will go on to shop at other units in 
HMTC creating linked trips that provide direct economic benefits to other shops and 
services in the area. In these respects, the appellant declares that its premises at 
No 320 contributes positively to the vitality and viability of HMTC and supports its 
retail function. I acknowledge that this research was limited in terms of its duration 
and extent and, as such, only provides a snapshot of the situation. However, I have 
no reason to question its conclusions or doubt that the same result would be found if 
the appellant relocated to No 322. Furthermore, the Council has not challenged the 
findings of the research, nor has it provided any up to date substantive evidence of 
its own regarding the impact of betting shops or non-retail uses on the vitality and 
viability of HMTC. On this basis, in my judgement, the research demonstrates that 
the proposed change of use would make a significant contribution to the vitality and 
viability of HMTC and that it would support the retail function of the Metropolitan 
centre.”   

 
7.2.8 In terms of marketing, the property is still in use by Deamers.  However, the applicant has 

been unsuccessfully marketing the site since February 2022 (10 months).  Whilst some 
initial interest was shown, no offers have been made other than the applicant of this current 
application.  With no other viable offers, the property would be left to stand vacant in this 
important primary retail area, to the detriment of the vitality and viability of the High Street. 

 
7.2.9 Local residents have raised concerns that a betting shop would be detrimental to health and 

therefore contrary to Policy SP9 (healthy communities).  This policy relates to improving 
physical health of residents and raising educational achievement and is not directly relevant 
to this application.  It does require developments to preserve the vitality and viability of 
identified centres.  As laid out above, it is considered that the footfall of the application site 
would be maintained and therefore the vitality and viability of the HSSA would be 
preserved. 

Page 9



- 8 - 

 
7.2.10 There would be public benefits from the development in the form of employment 

opportunities, construction jobs and passing trade to neighbouring retail premises.  The 
applicant has provided a statement that confirms the following: 

 3 full time employees and 3 part time employees 

 26 temporary construction jobs 
 
7.2.11 Local residents have also raised concerns about a proliferation of betting shops in the High 

Street.  There are currently 3 betting shops on the High Street out of 143 units; this equates 
to just 2.1%.  Should permission be granted for the change of use, this would result in an 
increase to 2.8% of the total premises.  This is not considered to result in an over a 
proliferation of betting shops if the Council was minded to grant permission.  
Notwithstanding this, whilst Policy TC10 requires the primary retail frontage area to contain 
a minimum of 60% retail premises, it does not categorise the remaining 40%.  A provision 
of 2.8% of the entire High Street is not considered to be an over concentration of betting 
shops which would have a cumulative adverse impact on the predominantly retail function 
of the HHSA or wider High Street area.  

 
7.2.12 Local residents have also raised concerns over betting shops and anti-social 

behaviour/increased crime, however there is no conclusive evidence that this is the case.  
An appeal for a betting shop in London (APP/V5570/W/22/3294654, Islington, London) was 
allowed in which similar concerns were raised.  In paragraph 17 the Inspector notes that 
“although this proposal would provide an additional facility in which people can gamble, 
there is no conclusive evidence which directly attributes the high levels of anti-social 
behaviour and crime rates (within the LSA) and the wider Borough...  The proposal would 
be strictly controlled through separate licensing and gambling legislation which seeks to 
prevent gambling from being a source of, or associated with, crime or disorder, ensure that 
gambling is conducted in a fair and open way and protect children and other vulnerable 
people form being harmed or exploited”.  Further in paragraph 18 he goes on to conclude 
that the active frontage created by the proposed betting shop would “provide a degree of 
surveillance which could address any existing problems”.  

 
7.2.13 As referred to in the Inspectors comments in 7.2.12 above, it is not within the remit of 

planning legislation to assess the acceptability of a betting shop in terms of its operation.  
This is covered by the Council’s Licensing team within Environmental Health, having regard 
to The Gambling Act 2005.  The Licensing team will assess the proposed use against three 
main objectives: 

1. Preventing gambling from being a source of crime or disorder, being associated with 
crime or disorder or being used to support crime; 

2. Ensuring that gambling is conducted in a fair and open way; and  
3. Protecting children and other vulnerable people from being harmed or exploited by 

gambling.  
 
7.2.14 Notwithstanding the above, the Local Planning Authority are not aware of any public 

disturbances or other social issues arising from the existing 3 betting shops in the High 
Street nor other betting shops in the Town.  

 
7.2.15 Given the aforementioned, whilst it has been identified that the proposal would be contrary 

to Policy TC9 in that a Sui Generis use is not an identified use for the HSSA or primary 
retail frontage, and a betting shop cannot be accepted as a leisure use in terms of the Use 
Class Orders 1987 (as amended), on balance, the use of the premises by an operator who 
would maintain the footfall levels of the area, and thereby likely to preserve footfall to 
surrounding retail premises, thus, the proposal would preserve the vitality and viability of 
the area.  Further, there would be public economic benefits through employment 
opportunities in the construction and operational phases, and to surrounding retail premises 
from passing trade.  Its has also been established that betting shops do not compromise 
vitality and viability of an area and there is no conclusive evidence that they contribute to a 

Page 10



- 9 - 

rise in anti-social behaviour or crime.   Accordingly, the proposed change of use is 
considered, on balance, to be acceptable in this instance.  

 
7.3 Design and Impact upon the Listed Building and Conservation Area  
 
7.3.1 Section 66 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 (as 

amended) states that in considering whether to grant planning permission for development 
which affects a listed building or its setting, the local planning authority should have special 
regard to the desirability of preserving the building or its setting or any features of special 
architectural or historic interest which it possesses. Section 72 of the same Act states that 
in the exercise of planning functions with respect to any buildings or other land in a 
conservation area, special attention should be paid to the desirability of preserving or 
enhancing the character or appearance of that area.  

 
7.3.2 Paragraph 199 of the NPPF (2021) states that when considering the impact of a proposed 

development on the significance of a designated heritage asset, great weight should be 
given to the asset’s conservation (and the more important the asset, the greater the weight 
should be). This is irrespective of whether any potential harm amounts to substantial harm, 
total loss or less than substantial harm to its significance.  

 
7.3.3 Paragraph 200 goes on to state that any harm to, or loss of, the significance of a 

designated heritage asset (from its alteration or destruction, or from development within its 
setting), should require clear and convincing justification.  

 
7.3.4 Paragraph 201 sets out that where a proposed development will lead to substantial harm to 

(or total loss of significance of) a designated heritage asset, local planning authorities 
should refuse consent, unless it can be demonstrated that the substantial harm or total loss 
is necessary to achieve substantial public benefits that outweigh that harm or loss. In 
reference to paragraph 202 of the NPPF (2021), this sets out that where a development 
proposal will lead to less than substantial harm to the significance of a designated heritage 
asset, this harm should be weighed against the public benefits of the proposal including, 
where appropriate, securing its optimum viable use. 

 
7.3.5 The NPPF provides a means of weighing either ‘substantial harm’ or ‘less than substantial 

harm’ to the significance of a designated heritage asset against the public benefits of the 
proposal.  However, the presumption ‘to preserve’ is not irrebuttable and “can be 
outweighed by material considerations powerful enough to do so” (Forge Field (Case Nos: 
CO/735/2013; CO/16932/2013) and a decision maker that has followed the process set out 
in the NPPF, in respect to weighing harm and benefits, can reasonably be expected to have 
complied with the ‘statutory duties’ of the 1990 Act (Mordue, Case No. C1/2015/1067). 

 
7.3.6 In considering public benefits, the Planning Practice Guidance (PPG) (2019) (Reference ID: 

18a-020-20190723) sets out that the NPPF requires any harm to designated heritage 
assets to be weighed against the public benefits of the proposal. Public benefits may follow 
from many developments and could be anything that delivers economic, social or 
environmental objectives as described in paragraph 8 of the NPPF. For reference, 
paragraph 8 of the NPPF states that “Achieving sustainable development means that the 
planning system has three overarching objectives, which are interdependent and need to 
be pursued in mutually supportive ways (so that opportunities can be taken to secure net 
gains across each of the different objectives):  

a) an economic objective – to help build a strong, responsive and competitive economy, 
by ensuring that sufficient land of the right types is available in the right places and at 
the right time to support growth, innovation and improved productivity; and by 
identifying and coordinating the provision of infrastructure;  

b) a social objective – to support strong, vibrant and healthy communities, by ensuring 
that a sufficient number and range of homes can be provided to meet the needs of 
present and future generations; and by fostering well-designed, beautiful and safe 

Page 11



- 10 - 

places, with accessible services and open spaces that reflect current and future 
needs and support communities’ health, social and cultural well-being; and  

c) an environmental objective – to protect and enhance our natural, built and historic 
environment; including making effective use of land, improving biodiversity, using 
natural resources prudently, minimising waste and pollution, and mitigating and 
adapting to climate change, including moving to a low carbon economy”  

 
7.3.7 The planning practice guidance goes onto state that public benefits should flow from the 

development. They should be of a nature or scale to be of benefit to the public at large and 
not just private benefit. However, benefits do not always have to be accessible to the public 
in order to be genuine public benefits; for example, works to a listed building which secure 
its future as a designated heritage asset could be a public benefit. Consequently, while a 
range of benefits that help deliver sustainable communities could be relevant, the PPG 
provides examples of heritage based public benefits, as follows: 

 Sustaining or enhancing the significance of a heritage asset and the contribution of 
its setting; 

 Reducing or removing risks to a heritage asset; 

 Securing the optimum viable use of a heritage asset in support of its long tem 
conservation.  

 
7.3.8 Additional to the above, Policy SP13 of the Adopted Local Plan relates to the historic 

environment. This states that the council will preserve and enhance the most important 
area and characteristics of Stevenage. The policy goes on to state that the Council will:-  

a) Have carried out Heritage Impact Assessments for development sites within, or 
adjacent to, conservation areas. Site specific mitigation measures have been 
incorporated to minimise the impacts of development.  

b) Will use national guidance and legislation to review, designate and determine 
planning applications affecting heritage assets.  

c) Will protect areas of archaeological importance and other relevant heritage assets 
by applying the detailed policies set in this plan. 

 
7.3.9 In terms of design, paragraph 126 of the NPPF (2021) states that achieving high quality, 

beautiful and sustainable buildings and places is fundamental to the planning and 
development process and that good design is a key aspect of sustainable development. 
Further, paragraph 130 of the NPPF (2021) stipulates that planning decisions should 
ensure developments function well and adds to the overall quality of the area, not just in the 
short term but over the lifetime of the development. It also sets out that developments 
should be visually attractive as a result of good architecture, layout, and appropriate and 
effective landscaping is sympathetic to local character and history, including the 
surrounding built environment and landscape setting. Paragraph 134 of the NPPF (2021) 
states that permission should be refused especially where it fails to reflect local design 
policies and government guidance on design (such as the National Design Guide), taking 
into account any local design guidance and supplementary planning documents. 
Conversely, significant weight be given to:  

a) development which reflects local design policies and government guidance on design, 
taking into account any local design guidance and supplementary planning 
documents such as design guides and codes; and/or  

b) outstanding or innovative designs which promote high levels of sustainability, or help 
raise the standard of design more generally in an area, so long as the fit in with the 
overall form and layout of their surroundings. 

 
7.3.10 Policy GD1 of the Local Plan (2019) generally requires all forms of development to meet a 

high standard of design which includes form of built development, elevational treatment and 
materials along with how the development would integrate with the urban fabric, its 
relationship between buildings, landscape design and relevant aspects of sustainable 
design. 

 

Page 12



- 11 - 

7.3.11 Policy SP8 of the adopted Local Plan (2019) requires new development to achieve the 
highest standards of design and sustainability which can deliver substantial improvements 
to the image and quality of the town’s built fabric. Policy GD1 of the Local Plan generally 
requires all forms of development to meet a high standard of design which includes form of 
built development, elevational treatment and materials along with how the development 
would integrate with the urban fabric, its relationship between buildings, landscape design 
and relevant aspects of sustainable design. 

 
7.3.12 The National Design Guide (2019) which was published by National Government is a 

material consideration in the determination of planning applications. It sets out that 
Buildings are an important component of places and proposals for built development are a 
focus of the development management system. However, good design involves careful 
attention to other important components of places. These include:  

 the context for places and buildings; 

 hard and soft landscape; 

 technical infrastructure – transport, utilities, services such as drainage; and 

 social infrastructure – social, commercial, leisure uses and activities. 
 

7.3.13 A well-designed place is unlikely to be achieved by focusing only on the appearance, 
materials and detailing of buildings. It comes about through making the right choices at all 
levels, including:  

 the layout;  

 the form and scale of buildings; 

 their appearance; 

 landscape;  

 materials; and 

 their detailing.  
 

7.3.14 The Guide further iterates that all developments are made up of these components put 
together in a particular way.  As such, the choices made in the design process contribute 
towards achieving the ten characteristics and shape the character of a place. For reference, 
these ten characteristics are as follows:- 

 Context – enhances the surroundings; 

 Identity – attractive and distinctive; 

 Built form – a coherent pattern of built form; 

 Movement – accessible and easy to move around; 

 Nature – enhanced and optimised; 

 Public spaces – safe, social and inclusive; 

 Uses – mixed and integrated; 

 Homes and buildings – functional, healthy and sustainable; 

 Resources – efficient and resilient; 

 Lifespan – made to last.  
 

7.3.15 Paragraph 40 of the National Design Guide states that well-designed places are: 

 Based on a sound understanding of the features of the site and the surrounding 
context, using baseline studies as a starting point for design; 

 Integrated into their surroundings so they relate well to them; 

 Influenced by and influence their context positively; and 

 Responsive to local history, culture and heritage. 
 
7.3.16 The property is a Grade II Listed Building within the Old Town Conservation Area.  The 

property dates to the 18th century (or earlier) and is of red brick construction with a clay tile 
roof. There are various gabled extensions to the rear, both old and new.   The ground floor 
shopfront is brown timber framed with large windows above a dwarf brick wall (stall riser), 
whilst the first floor is painted white brickwork with black timber framed windows.  There is a 
black painted frieze and a variety of vinyl signage and one large black lantern light.   

Page 13



- 12 - 

 
7.3.17 The High Street and Middle Row have a commercial character featuring a proliferation of 

modern shopfronts and synthetic signage in bright colours, which somewhat already 
detracts from the setting of the Listed Building.  

 
7.3.18 The Historic England entry for the property is as follows: 

 
C18.  Red stretchers, grey headers, hipped tiled roof with corbelled cornice. 2 
storeys, 4 flush sash windows with glazing bars under cambered arches.  Modern 
shop front to centre and left. Right central doorway with fanlight under cutter red 
brick semi-circular arch. 
Nos 67 and 69 form a group with Nos 81 to 87 (odd) which are of local interest. 

 
The significance of the listed building, therefore, relates predominantly to its shopfront, sash 
windows and a doorway with fanlight and semi-circular brick arch, all of which are on the 
front elevation.   

 
7.3.19 Listed Building consent is required as part of the proposed change of use of the premises 

involves internal alterations, the erection of air conditioning units, satellite dishes and 
signage. These works have been listed in detail in section 3 of this report. 

 
7.3.20 The air conditioning units and satellite dishes are to be located on the rear elevation 

fronting Church Lane.  The Council’s heritage advisor, B.E.A.M.S, has assessed the 
application and raised no concerns with the air conditioning units.  Initial concerns over the 
satellite dishes have been addressed and as such they are now satisfied with their location 
and are therefore acceptable.  

 
7.3.21 Turning to the internal alterations required, the Historic England listing as stated above, 

does not list any internal features as being of heritage value; although as part of the listed 
building, they should still be preserved.  The Council’s Heritage Advisor, B.E.A.M.S and 
Historic England, have assessed the application and raised no concerns regarding the 
internal works.  Accordingly, these works are considered to preserve the heritage asset and 
are acceptable in this regard.  

 
7.3.22 In regards to the external works, the Conservation Area Management Plan (2012) states 

that “alterations and extensions should not dominate an existing building's scale or alter the 
composition of its main elevations. Any alterations, including partial demolition, should 
respect an existing building and its materials. All new work should complement the old in 
quality, texture and colour as well as method of construction. Walls and detailing which 
have traditionally not been painted should remain undecorated”.  

 
7.3.23 The existing shopfront is in need of repair.  Currently it comprises a 3 bay window, un-used 

glazed door, the main entrance door with a further 3 bay window and to the right of this is 
the glazed doorway with brick archway and a further window.  Following extensive 
consultations with the Council’s heritage advisor, the final design of the scheme involves 
replacing the un-used door with window glazing, replacing the main entrance door and 
applying vinyl signage to the inside of the glazed windows in the main shopfront.  

 
7.3.24 Additionally, the existing timber shopfront would be replaced with a new timber shopfront 

and painted blue to reflect the corporate colours of the applicant.  Existing pilasters would 
be repaired and painted in corporate colours and the existing brickwork stall riser would be 
retained in-situ.  The right central doorway with brick archway would be replaced with a 
door panel, painted in corporate colours whilst retaining the fanlight and brick archway.  The 
first-floor sash windows, which are noted in the Historic England listing, would be retained 
and not altered.   

 

Page 14



- 13 - 

7.3.25 Historic England have assessed the proposal and have no concerns so do not wish to 
make any comments on the proposal.   B.E.A.M.S initially raised some concerns over the 
original submission and subsequently plans were amended in line with their 
recommendations to the final scheme as described in points 7.3.23 and 7.3.24 above.  In 
view of this, they confirmed that, subject to final details of the replacement shopfront door 
and its fixtures and fittings, they have no concerns about the new shopfront.  They have 
maintained concern regarding the illuminated signage on the windows but do not 
recommend refusal subject to conditions relating to its illumination levels.  A final plan was 
received which provides details of the main entrance door and its fixtures and fittings; it is 
considered appropriate to impose a condition should permission be granted, that the door is 
constructed and maintained as per this drawing.  

 
7.3.26 The High Street and Middle Row are commercial in nature and contain a number of modern 

shopfronts and illuminated signage.  In this regard, the Council do not consider that the 
proposed shopfront would be out of keeping with the surrounding area.  It is therefore 
considered that the proposed development would amount to less than substantial harm to 
the heritage assets, at the lower end of the scale.  As such, a balanced judgement is 
required to determine if there are any public benefits to the proposal, and, whether these 
would outweigh any harm identified.  

 
7.3.27 In regard to the impact of the signage on the Listed Building, following on-going 

negotiations with the applicant and the Council’s Heritage Advisor, the proposed signage 
would now comprise the installation of an externally illuminated projecting sign, an internally 
illuminated timber fascia with cut fret lettering affixed to the timber fascia, and 3no. light 
boxes within the main glazed area of the shopfront.  Given the signage has been designed 
to reflect similar signage attached to historic buildings within the Old Town, it is considered 
that the signage would appear sympathetic with the character and appearance of the Listed 
Building. Notwithstanding this, it is important to note that any associated signage with the 
proposed premises would still require separate Advertisement Consent from the Local 
Planning Authority. 

 
7.3.28 Turning to public benefits, there is no definition of ‘public benefits’ on the National Planning 

Policy Framework or associated Planning Practice Guidance. All the guidance states is that 
it “should flow from the proposed development. They should be of a nature or scale to be of 
benefit to the public at large”. There is also Case Law that deals with what is a material 
consideration, and this pretty much whether it serves a “proper planning purpose” (see 
latest commentary on this in Wright v Resilient Energy Severndale Ltd and Forest of Dean 
District Council). Further, public benefit could be anything that delivers economic, social or 
environmental objectives as described in paragraph 8 of the NPPF. The test therefore is 
whether the benefits clearly and convincingly outweigh the considerable importance and 
weight given to the heritage harm. 

 
7.3.29 The development would generate several construction jobs as well as support positions in 

the supply chain.  Additionally, 3 fulltime and 3 part time jobs would be created for the 
operation of the premises.  

 
7.3.30 The owners of the premises have unsuccessfully marketed the premises for continued retail 

use and as such, there is a real risk that the premises could fall vacant and into disrepair 
should the applicant not continue.  In this regard, the proposal provides a public benefit by 
securing the future of the listed building.  

 
7.3.31 Looking now at the impact on the Old Town Conservation Area, due to the limited number 

of external alterations which are being undertaken to the application property, and that the 
alterations would be in keeping with the surrounding commercial properties, it is considered 
that the proposal would not harm the character and appearance of the conservation area.   

 

Page 15



- 14 - 

7.3.32 In summary, it is acknowledged that the development would cause less than substantial 
harm, which is identified as being at the lower end of the scale, to the designated heritage 
asset.  The proposal will, however, provide economic benefits to the High Street, 
employment benefits, and most significantly, will secure the future of the listed building in 
the public interest and in the interests of preserving the Old Town Conservation Area.   

 
7.3.33 Given the aforementioned comments, it is considered that the proposed development, 

subject to appropriate conditions, would not have a detrimental effect on the historic 
character and appearance of the Listed Building and would preserve the visual amenities of 
the Conservation Area. 

 
7.4 Impact upon Neighbouring Amenities 
 
7.4.1 The application site is within a commercial area of the High Street with no residential 

dwellings in the immediate surrounding area.  The closest residential dwellings are located 
in Albert Street to the rear of the site and separated by Church Lane.  It is not considered 
that the use of the premises would result in noise levels over and above the existing use or 
surrounding properties and therefore no additional harm to residential dwellings would 
occur in this regard.  

 
7.4.2 With regards to potential disturbance from the air conditioning units, Environmental Health 

have been consulted on the application and whilst they have not raised any concerns, they 
have requested that a condition be imposed to ensure the operation of the air conditioning 
units is within acceptable noise limits.  Notwithstanding this, there are no residential 
dwellings within close proximity of the site which would likely be impacted in this regard.  
There are an abundance of bars and restaurants in the area which are considered to emit 
higher levels of noise than the proposed air conditioning units.  In this regard, whilst it is not 
considered that there would be undue harm as a result of the proposed development, it is 
considered appropriate to impose a condition relating to the air conditioning units in line 
with guidance from Environmental Health as a statutory consultee on applications of this 
nature. 

 
7.4.3 Further, Environmental Health have also requested a condition be imposed restricting the 

hours within which noise generating construction and re-fitting works can be carried out to 
ensure that these works do not disturb nearby residential dwellings.  

 
 
7.5 Car Parking and Highway Safety 
 
7.5.1 In terms of car parking, there are no guidelines for Sui Generis in the adopted Parking 

Provision SPD (2020), but rather, each application is to be determined on an individual 
basis.  The High Street is served by a number of off-street parking spaces lining either side 
of the vehicular highway.  Very few premises have rear yards which can provide parking 
spaces and this application is no different.  The existing retail premise is adequately served 
by the public parking spaces along the High Street and Church Lane, and it is not expected 
that the proposed use would generate an increase in visitors such that the existing 
arrangements would not be adequate.   

 
7.5.2 Hertfordshire County Council as Highways Authority has assessed the application and 

raised no concerns with regards to highway safety or parking provision.  Accordingly, the 
proposal is considered acceptable in this regard.  

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 16



- 15 - 

7.6 Other Matters 
 
 Signage 
 
7.6.1 The Council’s Heritage Advisor had raised concerns relating to the illumination of the 

proposed signage. The applicant has reduced the number of light boxes in the main 
shopfront glazing area.  It is advised that any advertisement would still require separate 
advertisement consent from the Council.  Notwithstanding this, the proposed signage is not 
considered to be out of keeping with the commercial nature of the High Street and Middle 
Row.  

 
 Article 4 Direction 
 
7.6.2 An Article 4 Direction would remove the Permitted Development Rights for a particular use 

in a specified area.  Current permitted development rights do not allow existing premises 
such as shops or restaurants to be converted to betting shops (Sui Generis) without the 
need for planning permission.  As such, an Article 4 Direction is not required as betting 
shops require a change of use which must be secured via planning permission. .  

 
 Better use of Premises 
 
7.6.3 The Council can only assess planning applications as they are received; the applicant has 

demonstrated that no other business under Class E retail has shown interest in taking over 
the premises.  

 
Community Infrastructure Levy 

 
7.6.4 The Council adopted CIL on 1 April 2020 and the CIL Charging Schedule specifies a 

payment for new floorspace in line with the following rates (plus appropriate indexation): 
  

 Development Type  CIL Rate (£ per square meter) 

  Zone 1: Stevenage Central, 
Stevenage West 
Urban Extension 
and North of 
Stevenage 
Extension 

 Zone 2: Everywhere else 

 Residential  

 Market housing  £40/m2  £100/m2 

 Sheltered housing  £100/m2 

 Extra care housing  £40/m2 

 Retail development  £60/m2 

 All other development  £0/m2 

 
 
7.6.5 CIL is a non-negotiable charge. The exact charge will be determined by the Council’s CIL 

officer after an application has been granted in accordance with the CIL Charging Schedule 
and the Community Infrastructure Levy Regulations 2010 (as amended). Opportunities for 
relief or exemption from the CIL charge exist and will be taken into account in the 
calculation of the final CIL charge. 

 
7.6.6 CIL replaces the need for S106 agreements to specify financial and/or land contributions for 

non-site-specific infrastructure projects. This allows infrastructure to be planned on a 
borough-wide scale rather than on a site-by-site basis as mitigation against the impacts of 
individual proposals. A CIL Form 1: Additional Information has been submitted along with 
the application.  

 

Page 17



- 16 - 

 Equality, Diversity and Human Rights 
 
7.6.7 Consideration has been given to Articles 1 and 8 of the First Protocol of the European 

Convention on Human Rights. It is not considered that the decision would result in a 
violation of any person’s rights under the Convention. 

 
7.6.8 When considering proposals placed before Members it is important that they are fully aware 

of and have themselves rigorously considered the equalities implications of the decision 
that they are taking. 

 
7.6.9 Rigorous consideration will ensure that proper appreciation of any potential impact of that 

decision on the Council's obligations under the Public Sector Equalities Duty. As a 
minimum this requires decision makers to read and carefully consider the content of any 
Equalities Impact Assessment (EqIA) produced by officers. 

 
7.6.10 The Equalities Act 2010 requires the Council when exercising its functions to have due 

regard to the need to (a) eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation and other 
conduct prohibited under the Act; (b) advance equality of opportunity between persons who 
share a relevant protected characteristic and persons who do not share it and (c) foster 
good relations between persons who share protected characteristics under the Equality Act 
and persons who do not share it. The protected characteristics under the Equality Act are: 
age; disability; gender reassignment; marriage and civil partnership; pregnancy and 
maternity; race; religion and belief; sex and sexual orientation. 

 
7.6.11 In terms of inclusive access, the scheme has been designed to be DDA (Disability 

Discrimination Act) compliant.  The building will have level or ramped access throughput 
and the installation of a disabled toilet.  

8. CONCLUSIONS  

8.1 In summary, the proposed change of use from a retail shop (Class E) to a betting shop 
(Class Sui Generis) including the associated alteration works, subject to appropriate 
conditions, would be considered an acceptable use within the Primary Retail Frontage. 
Further the development would not have a detrimental effect on the character and 
appearance of the grade II (un-starred) listed building or the visual amenities of the 
conservation area. The development would not harm the amenities of local residents, nor 
prejudice the safety and operation of the adjacent highway.  

 
8.2 Given the above, it is recommended that both planning permission and Listed Building 

Consent be granted.  

9. RECOMMENDATIONS  

9.1 That planning permission reference 22/00833/FP be GRANTED subject to the following 
conditions / reasons: 

 
1 The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the following 

approved plans: 
 Site Location Plan; FINAL-NL-170722-500; FINAL-NL-170722-502; NL-170722-101-A; NL-

170722-102-A; FINAL/NL/170722/501-D; FINAL-NL-170722-503-C; 
 REASON:- For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning.  
 
 
 
 

Page 18



- 17 - 

2 The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of three years from 
the date of this permission. 

 REASON:- To comply with the requirements of Section 91 of the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990 (as amended by Section 51 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase 
Act 2004). 

 
3 The replacement entrance door and door panel shall be installed as per the details on 

approved plan FINAL/NL/170722/501-D and retained in that form thereafter for the lifetime 
of the development unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 

  REASON:- To ensure that the character and appearance of the listed building is preserved. 
 
4 Prior to the installation of the air conditioning units hereby permitted, a noise assessment 

and scheme of acoustic mitigation shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the local 
planning authority. The units shall then be installed in accordance with the approved 
scheme prior to first occupation and permanently maintained as such thereafter unless 
otherwise agreed in writing by the local planning authority. 
REASON:- In the interests of the amenities of neighbouring occupiers. 

 
5 No noise generating construction/refitting works relating to this permission shall be carried 

out on any Sunday or Bank Holiday, nor before 07.30 hours or after 18.00 hours on any 
weekdays, nor on any Saturday before 08.00 hours or after 13.00 hours. These times apply 
to work which is audible at the site boundary. 

 REASON:- To ensure the development has an acceptable impact on neighbouring 
properties.  

  
Pro-Active Statement 

 
1 Planning permission has been granted for this proposal. The Council acted pro-actively 

through positive engagement with the applicant during the determination process which led 
to improvements to the scheme. The Council has therefore acted pro-actively in line with 
the requirements of the National Planning Policy Framework (paragraphs 186 and 187) and 
in accordance with the Town and Country Planning (Development Management Procedure) 
(England) (Amendment No. 2) Order 2012. 

 
INFORMATIVE  
 
 1 Public Information on Planning Applications 
 Warning: all information provided on your planning application is now publicly available. 

Individuals and organisations offering their services may contact you. The Council does not 
endorse or approve any builders, surveyors, trades persons or other supplier, and advises 
householders to obtain quotes/references, and check the legitimacy of any contractor who 
contacts them before making payment. 

 
 2 Community Infrastructure Levy 
 Stevenage Borough Council adopted a Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) Charging 

Schedule at Full Council on 27 January 2020 and started implementing CIL on 01 April 
2020.  

  
 This application may be liable for CIL payments and you are advised to contact the CIL 

Team for clarification with regard to this. If your development is CIL liable, even if you are 
granted an exemption from the levy, please be advised that it is a requirement under 
Regulation 67 of The Community Infrastructure Levy Regulations 2010 (as amended) that 
CIL Form 6 (Commencement Notice) must be completed, returned and acknowledged by 
Stevenage Borough Council before building works start. Failure to do so will mean you risk 
losing the right to payment by instalments and a surcharge will be imposed. NB, please 
note that a Commencement Notice is not required for residential extensions if relief has 
been granted.  

Page 19



- 18 - 

  
 Stevenage's adopted CIL Charging Schedule and further details of CIL can be found on the 

Council's webpages at www.stevenage.gov.uk/CIL or by contacting the Council's CIL Team 
at CIL@Stevenage.gov.uk . 

  
 3 Party Wall etc. Act 1996 
 Any work that affects a party wall, including foundations dug within 3.0m of a neighbouring 

building, may be controllable under the Act and may require approval from the adjoining 
owner(s).  Party Wall Act matters are always civil matters and it is neither Stevenage 
Borough Council's nor Hertfordshire Building Control Ltd's remit to control or enforce Party 
Wall act matters.  Please refer to the Government's explanatory booklet The Party Wall etc. 
Act 1996, a copy of which is available online at  

 https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/the-party-wall-etc-act-1996-revised-
explanatory-booklet   

 
 4 Building Regulations 
 To obtain advice regarding current Building Regulations please contact Hertfordshire 

Building Control Ltd. by emailing us at building.control@hertfordshirebc.co.uk or phoning us 
on 01438 879990. 

  
 To make a building regulations application please apply through our website portal at 

https://www.hertfordshirebc.co.uk/contact-us/ payment can be made online or by phoning 
the above number after the application has been uploaded.  Please phone Hertfordshire 
Building Control for fees guidance on 01438 879990. 

  
 Hertfordshire Building Control can also be contacted by post at Hertfordshire Building 

Control Ltd, 4th Floor, Campus West, Welwyn Garden City, Hertfordshire, AL8 6BX. 
  
 Once a building regulations application has been deposited with relevant drawings and fee 

building work may commence.  You will be advised in their acknowledgement letter of the 
work stages we need to inspect but in most instances these are usually: 

  
         Excavation for foundations 
         Damp proof course 
         Concrete oversite 
         Insulation 
         Drains (when laid or tested) 
         Floor and Roof construction 
         Work relating to fire safety 
         Work affecting access and facilities for disabled people 
         Completion 
  
 Please phone Hertfordshire Building Control on 01438 879990 before 10.00am to ensure a 

same day inspection (Mon - Fri). 
 
 5 Hertfordshire County Council as Highways Authority 
 Parking and Storage of materials: The applicant is advised that all areas for parking, 

storage, and delivery of materials associated with the construction of this development 
should be provided within the site on land which is not public highway, and the use of such 
areas must not interfere with the public highway.  If this is not possible, authorisation should 
be sought from the Highway Authority before construction works commence.  Further 
information is available via the website: 
https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/services/highways-roads-and-pavements/business-and-
developer-information/development-management/highways-development-
management.aspx or by telephoning 0300 1234047. 

 
 

Page 20



- 19 - 

 6 Hertfordshire County Council as Highways Authority 
 Obstruction of public highway land: It is an offence under section 137 of the Highways Act 

1980 for any person, without lawful authority or excuse, in any way to wilfully obstruct the 
free passage along a highway or public right of way. If this development is likely to result in 
the public highway or public right of way network becoming routinely blocked (fully or partly) 
the applicant must contact the Highway Authority to obtain their permission and 
requirements before construction works commence.  Further information is available via the 
website:  

 http://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/services/transtreets/highways/ or by telephoning 0300 
1234047. 

 
 
9.2 That Listed Building Consent Reference: 22/00835/LB be GRANTED subject to the 

following conditions: 
 
1 The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the following 

approved plans: 
 Site Location Plan; FINAL-NL-170722-500; FINAL-NL-170722-502; NL-170722-101-A; NL-

170722-102-A; FINAL/NL/170722/501-D; FINAL-NL-170722-503-C;   
 REASON:- For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning.  
 
2 The works for which consent is hereby granted shall be begun before the expiration of three 

years from the date of this consent. 
 REASON:- To comply with the requirements of Section 18 of the Planning (Listed Buildings 

and Conservation Areas) Act 1990. 
 
3 The replacement entrance door and door panel shall be installed as per the details on 

approved plan FINAL/NL/170722/501-D and retained in that form thereafter for the lifetime 
of the development unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 

  REASON:- To ensure that the character and appearance of the listed building is preserved. 
 
INFORMATIVE  
 
 1 Public Information on Planning Applications 
 Warning: all information provided on your planning application is now publicly available. 

Individuals and organisations offering their services may contact you. The Council does not 
endorse or approve any builders, surveyors, trades persons or other supplier, and advises 
householders to obtain quotes/references, and check the legitimacy of any contractor who 
contacts them before making payment. 

 
 2 Community Infrastructure Levy 
 Stevenage Borough Council adopted a Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) Charging 

Schedule at Full Council on 27 January 2020 and started implementing CIL on 01 April 
2020.  

  
 This application may be liable for CIL payments and you are advised to contact the CIL 

Team for clarification with regard to this. If your development is CIL liable, even if you are 
granted an exemption from the levy, please be advised that it is a requirement under 
Regulation 67 of The Community Infrastructure Levy Regulations 2010 (as amended) that 
CIL Form 6 (Commencement Notice) must be completed, returned and acknowledged by 
Stevenage Borough Council before building works start. Failure to do so will mean you risk 
losing the right to payment by instalments and a surcharge will be imposed. NB, please 
note that a Commencement Notice is not required for residential extensions if relief has 
been granted.  

  

Page 21



- 20 - 

 Stevenage's adopted CIL Charging Schedule and further details of CIL can be found on the 
Council's webpages at www.stevenage.gov.uk/CIL or by contacting the Council's CIL Team 
at CIL@Stevenage.gov.uk . 

  
 3 Party Wall etc. Act 1996 
 Any work that affects a party wall, including foundations dug within 3.0m of a neighbouring 

building, may be controllable under the Act and may require approval from the adjoining 
owner(s).  Party Wall Act matters are always civil matters and it is neither Stevenage 
Borough Council's nor Hertfordshire Building Control Ltd's remit to control or enforce Party 
Wall act matters.  Please refer to the Government's explanatory booklet The Party Wall etc. 
Act 1996, a copy of which is available online at  

 https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/the-party-wall-etc-act-1996-revised-
explanatory-booklet   

 
 4 Building Regulations 
 To obtain advice regarding current Building Regulations please contact Hertfordshire 

Building Control Ltd. by emailing us at building.control@hertfordshirebc.co.uk or phoning us 
on 01438 879990. 

  
 To make a building regulations application please apply through our website portal at 

https://www.hertfordshirebc.co.uk/contact-us/ payment can be made online or by phoning 
the above number after the application has been uploaded.  Please phone Hertfordshire 
Building Control for fees guidance on 01438 879990. 

  
 Hertfordshire Building Control can also be contacted by post at Hertfordshire Building 

Control Ltd, 4th Floor, Campus West, Welwyn Garden City, Hertfordshire, AL8 6BX. 
  
 Once a building regulations application has been deposited with relevant drawings and fee 

building work may commence.  You will be advised in their acknowledgement letter of the 
work stages we need to inspect but in most instances these are usually: 

  
         Excavation for foundations 
         Damp proof course 
         Concrete oversite 
         Insulation 
         Drains (when laid or tested) 
         Floor and Roof construction 
         Work relating to fire safety 
         Work affecting access and facilities for disabled people 
         Completion 
  
 Please phone Hertfordshire Building Control on 01438 879990 before 10.00am to ensure a 

same day inspection (Mon - Fri). 
 
 5 Hertfordshire County Council as Highways Authority 
 Parking and Storage of materials: The applicant is advised that all areas for parking, 

storage, and delivery of materials associated with the construction of this development 
should be provided within the site on land which is not public highway, and the use of such 
areas must not interfere with the public highway.  If this is not possible, authorisation should 
be sought from the Highway Authority before construction works commence.  Further 
information is available via the website: 
https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/services/highways-roads-and-pavements/business-and-
developer-information/development-management/highways-development-
management.aspx or by telephoning 0300 1234047. 

 
 
 

Page 22



- 21 - 

 6 Hertfordshire County Council as Highways Authority 
 Obstruction of public highway land: It is an offence under section 137 of the Highways Act 

1980 for any person, without lawful authority or excuse, in any way to wilfully obstruct the 
free passage along a highway or public right of way. If this development is likely to result in 
the public highway or public right of way network becoming routinely blocked (fully or partly) 
the applicant must contact the Highway Authority to obtain their permission and 
requirements before construction works commence.  Further information is available via the 
website:  

 http://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/services/transtreets/highways/ or by telephoning 0300 
1234047. 

 

10. BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS  

1. The application file, forms, plans and supporting documents having the reference number 
relating to this item. 

 
2. Stevenage Borough Council Supplementary Planning Documents – Parking Provision 

adopted October 2020, Stevenage Design Guide adopted October 2009, Old Town 
Conservation Area Management Plan 2012. 

 
3. Stevenage Borough Local Plan 2011 – 2031 adopted 2019. 
 
4. Hertfordshire County Council’s Local Transport Plan 4 adopted May 2019. 
 
5. Responses to consultations with statutory undertakers and other interested parties referred 

to in this report.  
 
6. Central Government advice contained in the National Planning Policy Framework July 2021 

and Planning Policy Guidance March 2014.  

Page 23



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 24



 Part I – Release 
to Press 

 
 
 

 
 

Meeting: Planning and Development 
Committee 

Agenda Item:  

Date: 10 January 2023  

Author: Linda Sparrow 07931 863551 

Lead Officer: Zayd Al-Jawad 01438 245257  

Contact Officer: Linda Sparrow 07931 863551  

 

Application No : 22/00834/AD 

Location : 67 – 69 High Street, Stevenage, Herts 

Proposal : Installation of 1 no. externally illuminated fascia sign, 1 no. externally 
illuminated projecting sign and 3no. internally illuminated window light 
boxes.  

Drawing Nos.: Site Location Plan; FINAL-NL-170722-500; FINAL-NL-170722-502; NL-
170722-101-A; NL-170722-102-A; FINAL/NL/170722/501-D; FINAL-NL-
170722-503-C; 

Applicant : Boyle Sports (UK) Limited 

Date Valid: 15 September 2022 

Recommendation : GRANT ADVERTISEMENT CONSENT 

 

 
 

 
 
 Image for information only 

1. SITE DESCRIPTION 

1.1. The application site is located on the eastern side of the High Street, at the southern end 

and adjacent to the entrance of the pedestrianised street of Middle Row to the north.  To the 

Page 25

Agenda Item 4



- 2 - 

south are commercial units and the pedestrianised stretch of Albert Street.  To the west is 

an area of cobbled highway with the vehicular highway of High Street beyond whilst to the 

rear (east) is the vehicular highway of Church Lane with residential dwellings beyond.  

1.2. The property is a Grade II Listed Building within the Old Town Conservation Area.  The 

property dates to the 18th century (or earlier) and is of red brick construction with a clay tile 

roof. There are various gabled extensions to the rear, both old and new.   The ground floor 

shopfront is brown timber framed with large windows above a dwarf brick wall (stall riser), 

whilst the first floor is painted white brickwork with black timber framed windows.  There is a 

black painted frieze and a variety of vinyl signage and one large black lantern light.  The 

current occupier of the premises uses the large cobbled pedestrian highway area to the front 

of the store to display a variety of goods for sale. 

2. RELEVANT PLANNING HISORY 

2.1 99/00379/LB Two Storey Rear Extension 26.01.2000. Granted. 
 
2.2 99/00381/FP Two Storey Rear Extension 26.01.2000.  Granted.  
 
2.3 04/00389/FP Single storey rear extension to shop 29.11.2004 PER 
 
2.4 04/00490/LB Application for listed building consent for demolition of existing rear canopy, 

erection of single storey rear extension to shop and internal alterations to enlarge retail area 
29.11.2004.  Granted.  

 
2.5 10/00488/FP Conversion of first floor and part rear ground floor to form 4no. one bedroom 

flats. 20.12.2010. Granted.  
 
2.6 10/00489/LB Listed building consent for the conversion of first floor and part rear ground 

floor to form 4no. one bedroom flats. 20.12.2010. Granted.  
 
2.7 21/01102/LB Strip off defective roof tiles and tiling battens, replace breathable roofing 

membrane, supply and fix treated timber battens and re-tile using handmade clay plain tiles 
26.11.2021.  Granted. 

3. THE CURRENT APPLICATION  

3.1 The proposal seeks advertisement consent for the installation of 1no. externally illuminated 

fascia sign, 1no. externally illuminated projecting sign and 3no. internally illuminated window 

light boxes.  

3.2 This application comes before the planning committee as it was called in by Councillor Jim 
Brown.  

4. PUBLIC REPRESENTATIONS  

4.1 Following notification of the applications via letter, the erection of site notices and a press 

notice in the local newspaper, no comments relating to the proposed signage were received. 

 

Page 26



- 3 - 

5. CONSULTATIONS  

5.1. Historic England 

5.1.1 Historic England provides advice when our engagement can add most value. In this case 
we are not offering advice.  We suggest that you seek the views of your specialist 
conservation and archaeological advisers. 

 

5.2 Herts County Council as Highways Authority 

5.2.1 The site fronts a wide public footpath, changes to the site are essentially the frontage of the 

building and signing. Illuminance levels of the lit signs at 250 cd/m2 are well within the 

existing standards.  The projecting signs are above the 2.3m required from ground level to 

the bottom of the sign. Subject to the informatives, this level of development is unlikely to 

generate any extra movements which would ultimately lead to demonstrable harm to the 

highway network in terms of free flow and capacity, therefore; the highway authority would 

not wish to restrict the grant of planning permission. Notice is given under article 22 of the 

Town and Country Planning (Development Management Procedure) (England) Order 2015 

that Hertfordshire County Council as Highway Authority does not wish to restrict the grant of 

permission. 

5.3 B.E.A.M.S (The Council’s Conservation and Listed Building Advisor) 

5.3.1 The interior at ground floor level has been extensively altered and all historic internal 
partitions have been removed. As such there is no objection to the minor internal alterations 
to the ground floor layout.  The 2 new air-conditioning units are concealed behind existing 
gates to rear (Church Lane) elevation so will not be publicly visible - no objection. The 
existing timber shopfront is relatively modern and there is no issue with its replacement in 
principle. However, it is recommended the design is amended/enhanced. It is 
recommended the new glazed shopfront incorporates glazing (with suitably spaced timber 
mullions) above a stall riser along its length (instead of brick blocking the existing unused 
door opening).  The existing shopfront has a simple moulded timber fascia, this should 
either be retained, or a new shopfront created with integral timber fascia with pilasters, 
consoles and other traditional shopfront detailing - the necessary signage can be applied to 
this.  The large vinyl to the arch headed door and the internal light boxes do not really 
respect the character of the Old Town Conservation Area.   The 2 satellite dishes to the rear 
are obtrusively sited upon the Church Lane elevation and detract from the character and 
appearance of this part of the Conservation Area. Setting them back from the Church Lane 
elevation so they are less visually intrusive is recommended. 

 

 Further Comments received 18 November 2022 upon receipt of amended plans:  

5.3.2 The timber shopfront design is satisfactory as is the externally illuminated signage. 
However, BEAMS has concerns over the vinyl signs which are visually intrusive. BEAMS 
takes the view that these would require Listed Building consent and do not consider them 
an acceptable addition to the listed building and to detract from the Conservation Area 
street scene.  The proposed internal light boxes (5 in all) are considerable in number, and 
we would prefer a reduction in number and / or containing their use to the main shop front 
and not the window to the side. If these are deemed acceptable their illumination should be 
controlled. Having seen these types of signs in operation within a betting shop window 
recently I was struck by how bright and garish they are, particularly at night hence raising 
concerns at this stage. Details of the shopfront door should either be provided or detailed 
via condition, a traditional door design is expected (the plans are not sufficiently clear).  
One of the satellite dishes to the rear has been relocated to a less prominent position, as 
such the single satellite dish to the gable end will result in less visual clutter than initially 

Page 27



- 4 - 

proposed - so acceptable in principle.  Recommend the vinyl signs are removed from the 
current application and that the other issues are dealt with via condition or as appropriate. 

 

5.4 Environmental Health 

5.4.1 No objection 

6. RELEVANT PLANNING POLICIES  

6.1.   Background to the Development Plan 

 
6.1.1 Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 provides that the 

decision on the planning application should be in accordance with the development plan 
unless material considerations indicate otherwise. For Stevenage the statutory 
development plan comprises: 

 
• The Stevenage Borough Council Local Plan 2011-2031 
• Hertfordshire Waste Development Framework 2012 and Hertfordshire Waste Site 

Allocations Development Plan Document (adopted 2012 and 2014); and 
• Hertfordshire Minerals Local Plan 2002 – 2016 (adopted 2007). 

 
6.2       Central Government Advice 
 
6.2.1 A revised National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) was published in July 2021. This 

largely reordered the policy substance of the earlier 2012 version of the NPPF albeit with 
some revisions to policy. The Council are content that the policies in the Local Plan are in 
conformity with the revised NPPF and that the Local Plan should be considered up to date 
for the purpose of determining planning applications. The NPPF provides that proposals 
which accord with an up-to-date development plan should be approved without delay 
(para.11) and that where a planning application conflicts with an up-to-date development 
plan, permission should not usually be granted (para.12). This indicates the weight which 
should be given to an up-to-date development plan, reflecting the requirements of section 
38(6) of the 2004 Act.   

 

6.3 Planning Practice Guidance 
 

The PPG contains guidance supplementing the NPPF and with which Members are fully 
familiar.  The PPG is a material consideration to be taken into account together with the 
National Design Guide (2019) which has the same status as the PPG. 

 
6.4 Adopted Local Plan (2019)  
 
6.4.1 The policies set out below are relevant in the determination of this application: 
 
 SP8 - Good Design; 
 SP13 – Historic Environment; 
 GD1 - High Quality Design; 
 NH10 – Conservation Areas; 
   
6.5 Supplementary Planning Documents  
 
 Stevenage Design Guide Supplementary Planning Document January 2009. 
 Old Town Conservation Area Management Plan 2012 

Page 28



- 5 - 

7. APPRAISAL  

7.1.1 The main issues to be considered are the effects of the proposed signage on the safety of 
the public and on the visual amenity of the Conservation Area and Listed Building. 
 

7.1.2 Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires that all planning 

applications must be determined in accordance with the Development Plan unless material 

considerations indicate otherwise. 

7.2 Design and Impact upon the Listed Building and Conservation Area  

 
7.2.1 Section 66 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 (as 

amended) states that in considering whether to grant planning permission for development 
which affects a listed building or its setting, the local planning authority should have special 
regard to the desirability of preserving the building or its setting or any features of special 
architectural or historic interest which it possesses. Section 72 of the same Act states that 
in the exercise of planning functions with respect to any buildings or other land in a 
conservation area, special attention should be paid to the desirability of preserving or 
enhancing the character or appearance of that area.  

 
7.2.2 Paragraph 199 of the NPPF (2021) states that when considering the impact of a proposed 

development on the significance of a designated heritage asset, great weight should be 
given to the asset’s conservation (and the more important the asset, the greater the weight 
should be). This is irrespective of whether any potential harm amounts to substantial harm, 
total loss or less than substantial harm to its significance.  

 
7.2.3 Paragraph 200 goes on to state that any harm to, or loss of, the significance of a 

designated heritage asset (from its alteration or destruction, or from development within its 
setting), should require clear and convincing justification.  

 
7.2.4 Paragraph 201 sets out that where a proposed development will lead to substantial harm to 

(or total loss of significance of) a designated heritage asset, local planning authorities 
should refuse consent, unless it can be demonstrated that the substantial harm or total loss 
is necessary to achieve substantial public benefits that outweigh that harm or loss. In 
reference to paragraph 202 of the NPPF (2021), this sets out that where a development 
proposal will lead to less than substantial harm to the significance of a designated heritage 
asset, this harm should be weighed against the public benefits of the proposal including, 
where appropriate, securing its optimum viable use. 

 
7.2.5 The NPPF provides a means of weighing either ‘substantial harm’ or ‘less than substantial 

harm’ to the significance of a designated heritage asset against the public benefits of the 
proposal.  However, the presumption ‘to preserve’ is not irrebuttable and “can be 
outweighed by material considerations powerful enough to do so” (Forge Field (Case Nos: 
CO/735/2013; CO/16932/2013) and a decision maker that has followed the process set out 
in the NPPF, in respect to weighing harm and benefits, can reasonably be expected to have 
complied with the ‘statutory duties’ of the 1990 Act (Mordue, Case No. C1/2015/1067).  

 
7.2.6 Additional to the above, Policy SP13 of the Adopted Local Plan relates to the historic 

environment. This states that the council will preserve and enhance the most important 
area and characteristics of Stevenage. The policy goes on to state that the Council will:-  

a) Have carried out Heritage Impact Assessments for development sites within, or 
adjacent to, conservation areas. Site specific mitigation measures have been 
incorporated to minimise the impacts of development.  

b) Will use national guidance and legislation to review, designate and determine 
planning applications affecting heritage assets.  

c) Will protect areas of archaeological importance and other relevant heritage assets 
by applying the detailed policies set in this plan. 

Page 29



- 6 - 

 
7.2.7 In terms of design, paragraph 126 of the NPPF (2021) states that achieving high quality, 

beautiful and sustainable buildings and places is fundamental to the planning and 
development process and that good design is a key aspect of sustainable development. 
Further, paragraph 130 of the NPPF (2021) stipulates that planning decisions should 
ensure developments function well and adds to the overall quality of the area, not just in the 
short term but over the lifetime of the development. It also sets out that developments 
should be visually attractive as a result of good architecture, layout and, appropriate and 
effective landscaping is sympathetic to local character and history, including the 
surrounding built environment and landscape setting. Paragraph 134 of the NPPF (2021) 
states that permission should be refused especially where it fails to reflect local design 
policies and government guidance on design (such as the National Design Guide), taking 
into account any local design guidance and supplementary planning documents. 
Conversely, significant weight be given to:  

a) development which reflects local design policies and government guidance on design, 
taking into account any local design guidance and supplementary planning 
documents such as design guides and codes; and/or  

b) outstanding or innovative designs which promote high levels of sustainability, or help 
raise the standard of design more generally in an area, so long as the fit in with the 
overall form and layout of their surroundings. 

 
7.2.8 Policy GD1 of the Local Plan (2019) generally requires all forms of development to meet a 

high standard of design which includes form of built development, elevational treatment and 
materials along with how the development would integrate with the urban fabric, its 
relationship between buildings, landscape design and relevant aspects of sustainable 
design. 

 
7.2.9 Policy SP8 of the adopted Local Plan (2019) requires new development to achieve the 

highest standards of design and sustainability which can deliver substantial improvements 
to the image and quality of the town’s built fabric. Policy GD1 of the Local Plan generally 
requires all forms of development to meet a high standard of design which includes form of 
built development, elevational treatment and materials along with how the development 
would integrate with the urban fabric, its relationship between buildings, landscape design 
and relevant aspects of sustainable design. 

 
7.2.10 The National Design Guide (2019) which was published by National Government is a 

material consideration in the determination of planning applications. It sets out that 
Buildings are an important component of places and proposals for built development are a 
focus of the development management system. However, good design involves careful 
attention to other important components of places. These include:  

 the context for places and buildings; 

 hard and soft landscape; 

 technical infrastructure – transport, utilities, services such as drainage; and 

 social infrastructure – social, commercial, leisure uses and activities. 
 

7.2.11 A well-designed place is unlikely to be achieved by focusing only on the appearance, 
materials and detailing of buildings. It comes about through making the right choices at all 
levels, including:  

 the layout;  

 the form and scale of buildings; 

 their appearance; 

 landscape;  

 materials; and 

 their detailing.  
 

7.2.12 The Guide further iterates that all developments are made up of these components put 
together in a particular way.  As such, the choices made in the design process contribute 

Page 30



- 7 - 

towards achieving the ten characteristics and shape the character of a place. For reference, 
these ten characteristics are as follows:- 

 Context – enhances the surroundings; 

 Identity – attractive and distinctive; 

 Built form – a coherent pattern of built form; 

 Movement – accessible and easy to move around; 

 Nature – enhanced and optimised; 

 Public spaces – safe, social and inclusive; 

 Uses – mixed and integrated; 

 Homes and buildings – functional, healthy and sustainable; 

 Resources – efficient and resilient; 

 Lifespan – made to last.  
 

7.2.13 Paragraph 40 of the National Design Guide states that well-designed places are: 

 Based on a sound understanding of the features of the site and the surrounding 
context, using baseline studies as a starting point for design; 

 Integrated into their surroundings so they relate well to them; 

 Influenced by and influence their context positively; and 

 Responsive to local history, culture and heritage. 
 
7.2.14 The property is a Grade II Listed Building within the Old Town Conservation Area.  The 

property dates to the 18th century (or earlier) and is of red brick construction with a clay tile 
roof. There are various gabled extensions to the rear, both old and new.   The ground floor 
shopfront is brown timber framed with large windows above a dwarf brick wall (stall riser), 
whilst the first floor is painted white brickwork with black timber framed windows.  There is a 
black painted frieze and a variety of vinyl signage and one large black lantern light.   

 
7.2.15 The High Street and Middle Row have a commercial character featuring a proliferation of 

modern shopfronts and synthetic signage in bright colours, which somewhat already 
detracts from the setting of the Listed Building.  

 
7.2.16 The Historic England entry for the property is as follows: 

 
C18.  Red stretchers, grey headers, hipped tiled roof with corbelled cornice. 2 
storeys, 4 flush sash windows with glazing bars under cambered arches.  Modern 
shop front to centre and left. Right central doorway with fanlight under cutter red 
brick semi-circular arch. 
Nos 67 and 69 form a group with Nos 81 to 87 (odd) which are of local interest. 

 
The significance of the listed building therefore, relates predominantly to its shopfront, sash 
windows and a doorway with fanlight and semi-circular brick arch, all of which are on the 
front elevation.   

 
7.2.17 Historic England have assessed the proposal and have no concerns so do not wish to 

make any comments on the proposal.   B.E.A.M.S initially raised some concerns over the 
original submission and subsequently plans were amended in line with their 
recommendations to the final scheme.    They have maintained concern regarding the 
illuminated signage on the windows but do not recommend refusal, subject to conditions 
relating to its illumination levels.   

 
7.2.18 The High Street and Middle Row are commercial in nature and contain a number of modern 

shopfronts and illuminated signage.  In this regard, the Council do not consider that the 
proposed shopfront would be out of keeping with the surrounding area.  It is therefore 
considered that the proposed development would amount to less than substantial harm to 
the heritage assets, at the lower end of the scale.  

 

Page 31



- 8 - 

7.2.19 In regard to the impact of the signage on the Listed Building, following on-going 
negotiations with the applicant and the Council’s Heritage Advisor, the proposed signage 
would now comprise the installation of an externally illuminated projecting sign, an internally 
illuminated timber fascia with cut fret lettering affixed to the timber fascia, and 3no. light 
boxes within the main glazed area of the shopfront.  Given the signage has been designed 
to reflect similar signage attached to historic buildings within the Old Town, it is considered 
that the signage would appear sympathetic with the character and appearance of the Listed 
Building. 

 
7.2.20 Given the aforementioned comments, it is considered that the proposed signage, subject to 

appropriate conditions, would not have a detrimental effect on the historic character and 
appearance of the Listed Building and would preserve the historic character of the Old 
Town Conservation Area. 

 
7.3 Impact upon Public and Highway Safety 
 
7.3.1 The application site is within a commercial area of the High Street with no residential 

dwellings in the immediate surrounding area.   The surrounding premises have a variety of 
fascia signs, window signs and projecting signs both illuminated and non-illuminated. 

 
7.3.2 The projecting sign will be approximately 3m above ground level and would not therefore 

impede pedestrians passing in front of the premises.   The window light boxes and fascia 
signs would be part of the shopfront and therefore not project into the public footpath to 
impede pedestrian traffic.  

 
7.3.3 Whilst the signs will be visible from a public highway used by vehicular traffic, Herts County 

Council as Highways Authority have assessed the application and not raised any concerns, 
subject to suitable conditions relating to illuminance.  The shopfront is set back 
approximately 10m from the parking bays to the front and approximately 15m from the main 
vehicular highway.  As such it is not considered that the signs would distract motorists to 
the detriment of highway safety. 

 
 
7.4 Equality, Diversity and Human Rights 
 
7.4.1 Consideration has been given to Articles 1 and 8 of the First Protocol of the European 

Convention on Human Rights. It is not considered that the decision would result in a 
violation of any person’s rights under the Convention. 

 
7.4.2 When considering proposals placed before Members it is important that they are fully aware 

of and have themselves rigorously considered the equalities implications of the decision 
that they are taking. 

 
7.4.3 Rigorous consideration will ensure that proper appreciation of any potential impact of that 

decision on the Council's obligations under the Public Sector Equalities Duty. As a 
minimum this requires decision makers to read and carefully consider the content of any 
Equalities Impact Assessment (EqIA) produced by officers. 

 
7.4.4 The Equalities Act 2010 requires the Council when exercising its functions to have due 

regard to the need to (a) eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation and other 
conduct prohibited under the Act; (b) advance equality of opportunity between persons who 
share a relevant protected characteristic and persons who do not share it and (c) foster 
good relations between persons who share protected characteristics under the Equality Act 
and persons who do not share it. The protected characteristics under the Equality Act are: 
age; disability; gender reassignment; marriage and civil partnership; pregnancy and 
maternity; race; religion and belief; sex and sexual orientation. 

 

Page 32



- 9 - 

7.4.5 The proposed signage, given its siting, will not impede the safety of persons who are 
protected under The Equalities Act 2010. 

8. CONCLUSIONS  

8.1 Overall it is considered that the signage does not present a safety risk to the public or have 
an adverse effect on the amenity of the area including the historic character of the listed 
building. Accordingly, it is recommended that advertisement consent be granted. 

9. RECOMMENDATIONS  

9.1 That advertisement consent reference 22/00834/AD be GRANTED subject to the following 
conditions / reasons: 

 
1 The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the following 

approved plans: 
 Site Location Plan; FINAL-NL-170722-500; FINAL-NL-170722-502; NL-170722-101-A; NL-

170722-102-A; FINAL/NL/170722/501-D; FINAL-NL-170722-503-C; 
 REASON:- For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning.  
 
2 This consent shall be for a limited period only, expiring FIVE years after the date of this 

notice and on or before that date the advertisement shall be removed and the 
building/land be restored to its former condition. 
REASON:- To accord with Regulation 14 of the Town and Country Planning (Control of 
Advertisements) (England) Regulations 2007. 

 
3 A. No advertisement is to be displayed without the permission of the owner of the site or 

any other person with an interest in the site entitled to grant permission. 
 
 B. No advertisement shall be sited or displayed so as to:- 

  i) endanger persons using any highway, railway, waterway, dock, harbour or aerodrome 
(civil or military); 

  ii) obscure, or hinder the ready interpretation of, any traffic sign, railway signal or aid to 
navigation by water or air; or 

 iii) hinder the operation of any device used for the purpose of security or surveillance or for 
measuring the speed of any vehicle. 

 
 C. Any advertisement displayed, and any site used for the display of advertisements, shall 

be maintained in a condition that does not impair the visual amenity of the site. 
 
 D. Any structure or hoarding erected or used principally for the purpose of displaying  
     advertisements shall be maintained in a condition that does not endanger the public. 
 
 E. Where an advertisement is required under these Regulations to be removed, the site 

shall be left in a condition that does not endanger the public or impair visual amenity. 
 REASON:-In accordance with Regulation 14 of The Town and Country Planning (Control of 

Advertisements) (England) Regulations 2007. 
 

 
 
 
 

Page 33



- 10 - 

10. BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS  

1. The application file, forms, plans and supporting documents having the reference number 
relating to this item. 

 
2. Stevenage Borough Council Supplementary Planning Documents – Stevenage Design 

Guide adopted October 2009, Old Town Conservation Area Management Plan 2012. 
 
3. Stevenage Borough Local Plan 2011 – 2031 adopted 2019. 
 
4. Hertfordshire County Council’s Local Transport Plan 4 adopted May 2019. 
 
5. Responses to consultations with statutory undertakers and other interested parties referred 

to in this report.  
 
6. Central Government advice contained in the National Planning Policy Framework July 2021 

and Planning Policy Guidance March 2014.  

Page 34



DC36 

PART 1 
                       Release to Press 

 
 
 
 

Meeting: Planning and Development 
Committee 

Agenda Item:  

Date:    

IMPORTANT  INFORMATION - DELEGATED DECISIONS 

Author – Technical Support 01438 242838 

Lead Officer – Zayd Al-Jawad 01438 242257 

Contact Officer – James Chettleburgh 01438 242266 

The Assistant Director of Planning and Regulation has issued decisions in respect of the 
following applications in accordance with his delegated authority:- 
 
 
1.  Application No : 21/00230/FP 

 
 Date Received : 12.03.21 

 
 Location : 85 Queensway Town Centre Stevenage Herts 

 
 Proposal : Installation of air conditioning units, flue and extraction equipment 

to rear of building. 
 

 Date of Decision : 29.11.22 
  

Decision : 
 
Planning Permission is GRANTED 
 

 
 
2.  Application No : 22/00344/FP 

 
 Date Received : 13.04.22 

 
 Location : 22 Greydells Road Stevenage Herts SG1 3NJ 

 
 Proposal : Single storey rear extension, single storey side extension, and 

loft conversion to create 3 No. 1 bedroom maisonettes 
 

 Date of Decision : 29.11.22 
  

Decision : 
 
Planning Permission is GRANTED 
 

 
  

Page 35

Agenda Item 5



DC36 

 
 
 
 
3.  Application No : 22/00568/FP 

 
 Date Received : 17.06.22 

 
 Location : 11 - 17 Douglas Drive Stevenage Herts SG1 5PE 

 
 Proposal : Replacement of existing external cladding; replacement of 

existing roof finish, replacement of common access handrail and 
balustrade 
 

 Date of Decision : 06.12.22 
  

Decision : 
 
Planning Permission is GRANTED 
 

 
 
4.  Application No : 22/00569/FP 

 
 Date Received : 17.06.22 

 
 Location : 87 - 93 Douglas Drive Stevenage Herts SG1 5PH 

 
 Proposal : Replacement of existing external cladding; replacement of 

existing roof finish, replacement of common access handrail and 
balustrade 
 

 Date of Decision : 06.12.22 
  

Decision : 
 
Planning Permission is GRANTED 
 

 
 
5.  Application No : 22/00570/FP 

 
 Date Received : 17.06.22 

 
 Location : 51 - 63 Verity Way Stevenage Herts SG1 5PW 

 
 Proposal : Replacement of existing external cladding; replacement of 

existing roof finish, replacement of common access handrail and 
balustrade 
 

 Date of Decision : 06.12.22 
  

Decision : 
 
Planning Permission is GRANTED 
 

 
  

Page 36



DC36 

 
 
 
 
 
6.  Application No : 22/00571/FP 

 
 Date Received : 17.06.22 

 
 Location : 73 - 85 Verity Way Stevenage Herts SG1 5PW 

 
 Proposal : Replacement of existing external cladding; replacement of 

existing roof finish, replacement of common access handrail and 
balustrade 
 

 Date of Decision : 06.12.22 
  

Decision : 
 
Planning Permission is GRANTED 
 

 
 
7.  Application No : 22/00572/FP 

 
 Date Received : 17.06.22 

 
 Location : 133 - 145 Verity Way Stevenage Herts SG1 5PP 

 
 Proposal : Replacement of existing external cladding; replacement of 

existing roof finish, replacement of common access handrail and 
balustrade 
 

 Date of Decision : 06.12.22 
  

Decision : 
 
Planning Permission is GRANTED 
 

 
 
8.  Application No : 22/00573/FP 

 
 Date Received : 17.06.22 

 
 Location : 149 - 161 Verity Way Stevenage Herts SG1 5PP 

 
 Proposal : Replacement of existing external cladding; replacement of 

existing roof finish, replacement of common access handrail and 
balustrade 
 

 Date of Decision : 06.12.22 
  

Decision : 
 
Planning Permission is GRANTED 
 

 
  

Page 37



DC36 

 
9.  Application No : 22/00574/FP 

 
 Date Received : 17.06.22 

 
 Location : 69 - 75 Douglas Drive Stevenage Herts SG1 5PH 

 
 Proposal : Replacement of existing external cladding; replacement of 

existing roof finish, replacement of common access handrail and 
balustrade 
 

 Date of Decision : 06.12.22 
  

Decision : 
 
Planning Permission is GRANTED 
 

 
 
10.  Application No : 22/00610/FP 

 
 Date Received : 30.06.22 

 
 Location : 10 Rudd Close Stevenage Herts SG2 9SP 

 
 Proposal : Change of use of three bedroom dwelling (Use Class C3) into a 

four bedroom HMO (Use Class C4) and associated refuse 
storage facilities 
 

 Date of Decision : 15.12.22 
  

Decision : 
 
Planning Permission is GRANTED 
 

 
 
11.  Application No : 22/00687/FP 

 
 Date Received : 27.07.22 

 
 Location : Garage Block At Whitesmead Road  Stevenage Herts  

 
 Proposal : Demolition of superstructure of 13 no. garages and replacement 

with 13 no. proprietary garages on existing slab and foundations. 
 

 Date of Decision : 08.12.22 
  

Decision : 
 
Planning Permission is GRANTED 
 

 
 
12.  Application No : 22/00695/FP 

 
 Date Received : 28.07.22 

 
 Location : 12 High Street Stevenage Herts SG1 3EJ 

 
 Proposal : Change of use from Class E (offices) to Class C3 (residential) to 

form a single dwellinghouse, erection of a rear dormer window 
and alterations to existing single storey rear extension 
 

 Date of Decision : 14.12.22 
  

Decision : 
 
Planning Permission is GRANTED 

Page 38



DC36 

 
 
 
 
 
13.  Application No : 22/00696/LB 

 
 Date Received : 28.07.22 

 
 Location : 12 High Street Stevenage Herts SG1 3EJ 

 
 Proposal : Listed Building Consent for a change of use from Class E (offices) 

to Class C3 (residential) to form a single dwellinghouse, internal 
alterations, erection of a rear dormer window and alterations to 
existing single storey rear extension 
 

 Date of Decision : 14.12.22 
  

Decision : 
 
Listed Building Consent is GRANTED 
 

 
 
14.  Application No : 22/00727/FP 

 
 Date Received : 05.08.22 

 
 Location : Hendren Court Jessop Road Stevenage Herts 

 
 Proposal : Erection of bin stores; engineering works with associated 

retaining walls; erection of boundary fencing, hard surfacing and 
associated works. 
 

 Date of Decision : 02.12.22 
  

Decision : 
 
Planning Permission is GRANTED 
 

 
 
15.  Application No : 22/00786/COND 

 
 Date Received : 26.08.22 

 
 Location : Stanmore Hall Stanmore Road Stevenage Herts 

 
 Proposal : Discharge of condition  4 (Materials)  attached to planning 

permission 21/00719/FP 
 

 Date of Decision : 06.12.22 
  

Decision : 
 
The discharge of Condition(s)/Obligation(s) is APPROVED 
 

 
  

Page 39



DC36 

 
 
 
 
16.  Application No : 22/00851/FPH 

 
 Date Received : 22.09.22 

 
 Location : 377 Broadwater Crescent Stevenage Herts SG2 8HA 

 
 Proposal : Erection of part single-storey, part two-storey rear extension, 

single-storey front extension and installation of a canopy on the 
side elevation. 
 

 Date of Decision : 25.11.22 
  

Decision : 
 
Planning Permission is GRANTED 
 

 
 
17.  Application No : 22/00871/CLPD 

 
 Date Received : 02.10.22 

 
 Location : 5 Kenmare Close Stevenage Herts  

 
 Proposal : Certificate of lawfulness for the proposed development of a single 

storey rear extension 
 

 Date of Decision : 25.11.22 
  

Decision : 
 
Certificate of Lawfulness is APPROVED 
 

 
 
18.  Application No : 22/00875/CPA 

 
 Date Received : 03.10.22 

 
 Location : 166A High Street Stevenage Herts SG1 3LL 

 
 Proposal : Prior approval for the change of use of office building (Use Class 

E) to 1no: residential dwelling (Use Class C3) 
 

 Date of Decision : 28.11.22 
  

Decision : 
 
Prior Approval is REQUIRED and REFUSED 
 
The developer has provided insufficient information to enable the 
authority to establish whether the proposed development 
complies with the condition in Paragraph MA.2(2)(d) of Part 3 of 
Schedule 2 to the Town and Country Planning (General 
Permitted Development)(England) Order 2015 (as amended). 
 

 
  

Page 40



DC36 

 
 
 
 
19.  Application No : 22/00876/FPH 

 
 Date Received : 04.10.22 

 
 Location : 7 Faraday Road Stevenage Herts SG2 0BJ 

 
 Proposal : Demolition of existing outbuilding and construction of single-

storey rear extension. 
 

 Date of Decision : 25.11.22 
  

Decision : 
 
Planning Permission is GRANTED 
 

 
 
20.  Application No : 22/00883/FP 

 
 Date Received : 05.10.22 

 
 Location : Specialist Cars BMW Stevenage Arlington Business Park  

Gunnels Wood Road Stevenage 
 

 Proposal : Proposed change of use of car storage area at second floor level 
(Use Class B8) to a Cosmetic Repair facility (Use Class B2). 
 

 Date of Decision : 29.11.22 
  

Decision : 
 
Planning Permission is GRANTED 
 

 
 
21.  Application No : 22/00885/TPTPO 

 
 Date Received : 06.10.22 

 
 Location : 14 Foster Close Stevenage Herts SG1 4SA 

 
 Proposal :  25-30% reduction to suitable lateral growth points to 1 No: Beech 

Tree (T12) protected by TPO 10 
 

 Date of Decision : 25.11.22 
  

Decision : 
 
CONSENT TO CARRY OUT WORKS TO A TREE, THE 
SUBJECT OF A TREE PRESERVATION ORDER 
 

 
  

Page 41



DC36 

 
 
22.  Application No : 22/00887/TPTPO 

 
 Date Received : 06.10.22 

 
 Location : MBDA UK Six Hills Way Stevenage Herts 

 
 Proposal : Crown reduction by 30% and removal of deadwood to Oak Tree 

(T2) protected by TPO 107 
 

 Date of Decision : 28.11.22 
  

Decision : 
 
CONSENT TO CARRY OUT WORKS TO A TREE, THE 
SUBJECT OF A TREE PRESERVATION ORDER 
 

 
 
23.  Application No : 22/00892/FPH 

 
 Date Received : 07.10.22 

 
 Location : 356 York Road Stevenage Herts SG1 4EL 

 
 Proposal : Single storey rear extension 

 
 Date of Decision : 14.12.22 
  

Decision : 
 
Planning Permission is GRANTED 
 

 
 
24.  Application No : 22/00894/FPH 

 
 Date Received : 07.10.22 

 
 Location : 17 Austen Paths Stevenage Herts SG2 0NJ 

 
 Proposal : Single Storey Front Extension 

 
 Date of Decision : 29.11.22 
  

Decision : 
 
Planning Permission is GRANTED 
 

 
 
25.  Application No : 22/00898/CLPD 

 
 Date Received : 09.10.22 

 
 Location : 75 Uplands Stevenage Herts SG2 7DW 

 
 Proposal : Lawful Development Certificate (Proposed) for a garage 

conversion and erection of an outbuilding 
 

 Date of Decision : 28.11.22 
  

Decision : 
 
Certificate of Lawfulness is APPROVED 
 

 
 

Page 42



DC36 

26.  Application No : 22/00908/TPTPO 
 

 Date Received : 12.10.22 
 

 Location : 1 Lintott Close Stevenage Herts SG1 3LZ 
 

 Proposal : Reduce 1no Lime Tree (T1) by approx 2m, back to previous 
pruning points. Protected by TPO 15 
 

 Date of Decision : 28.11.22 
  

Decision : 
 
CONSENT TO CARRY OUT WORKS TO A TREE, THE 
SUBJECT OF A TREE PRESERVATION ORDER 
 

 
 
27.  Application No : 22/00911/FPH 

 
 Date Received : 12.10.22 

 
 Location : 27 Weston Road Stevenage Herts SG1 3RN 

 
 Proposal : Erection of outbuilding to be used as ancillary living 

accommodation. 
 

 Date of Decision : 13.12.22 
  

Decision : 
 
Planning Permission is GRANTED 
 

 
 
28.  Application No : 22/00912/CLPD 

 
 Date Received : 12.10.22 

 
 Location : 27 Weston Road Stevenage Herts SG1 3RN 

 
 Proposal : Certificate of Lawfulness (Proposed) for the use of land for siting 

of a mobile home for ancillary living accommodation in 
association with the existing dwelling. 
 

 Date of Decision : 01.12.22 
  

Decision : 
 
Certificate of Lawfulness is REFUSED 
 
For the following reason(s);  
 
On the basis of the information submitted, the proposed mobile 
home for living accommodation constitutes development under 
Section 55 of the Town and Country Planning Act. This is 
because the wheels of the mobile home would be removed and 
it would be physically fixed to the ground on a foundation and, 
therefore, classed as a permanent structure. Furthermore, the 
proposed mobile home for living accommodation does not 
constitute permitted development as it fails to adhere to  
Schedule 2, Part 1, Class E of the Town and Country Planning 
(General Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 as it is 
deemed to be ancillary living accommodation. Consequently, the 
proposal requires planning permission from the Council. 
 

 
Page 43



DC36 

 
29.  Application No : 22/00913/FP 

 
 Date Received : 12.10.22 

 
 Location : Old School Of Nursing Lister Hospital Coreys Mill Lane 

Stevenage 
 

 Proposal : Removal and replacement of existing windows and doors. 
 

 Date of Decision : 06.12.22 
  

Decision : 
 
Planning Permission is GRANTED 
 

 
 
30.  Application No : 22/00919/FPH 

 
 Date Received : 14.10.22 

 
 Location : 63 York Road Stevenage Herts SG1 4ET 

 
 Proposal : Demolition of existing conservatory and erection of single-storey 

front and rear extensions. 
 

 Date of Decision : 08.12.22 
  

Decision : 
 
Planning Permission is GRANTED 
 

 
 
31.  Application No : 22/00921/FPH 

 
 Date Received : 15.10.22 

 
 Location : 2 Poston Place Stevenage Herts SG2 0BS 

 
 Proposal : Installation of front and rear windows in gable wall of roof. 

 
 Date of Decision : 29.11.22 
  

Decision : 
 
Planning Permission is GRANTED 
 

 
 
32.  Application No : 22/00926/COND 

 
 Date Received : 17.10.22 

 
 Location : 12 Lower Sean Stevenage Herts SG2 9XN 

 
 Proposal : Discharge of conditions 7 (climate change) and 11 (construction 

management statement) attached to planning permission 
reference number 22/00684/FP 
 

 Date of Decision : 29.11.22 
  

Decision : 
 
The discharge of Condition(s)/Obligation(s) is APPROVED 
 

 
 

Page 44



DC36 

33.  Application No : 22/00932/FPH 
 

 Date Received : 17.10.22 
 

 Location : 37 Boxfield Green Stevenage Herts SG2 7DR 
 

 Proposal : Proposed two-storey side extension, part single-storey, part two-
storey rear extension. 
 

 Date of Decision : 12.12.22 
  

Decision : 
 
Planning Permission is GRANTED 
 

 
 
34.  Application No : 22/00934/FPH 

 
 Date Received : 18.10.22 

 
 Location : 225 Pankhurst Crescent Stevenage Herts SG2 0QP 

 
 Proposal : Demolition of existing conservatory and erection of a single-

storey rear extension; installation of rear dormer window 
 

 Date of Decision : 30.11.22 
  

Decision : 
 
Planning Permission is GRANTED 
 

 
 
35.  Application No : 22/00939/FPH 

 
 Date Received : 20.10.22 

 
 Location : 194 Sefton Road Stevenage Herts SG1 5RP 

 
 Proposal : Two storey front extension 

 
 Date of Decision : 14.12.22 
  

Decision : 
 
Planning Permission is GRANTED 
 

 
 
36.  Application No : 22/00942/FPH 

 
 Date Received : 22.10.22 

 
 Location : 122 Valley Way Stevenage Herts SG2 9DD 

 
 Proposal : Garage conversion to one bed annexe with associated external 

works. 
 

 Date of Decision : 06.12.22 
  

Decision : 
 
Planning Permission is GRANTED 
 

 
  

Page 45



DC36 

 
 
37.  Application No : 22/00943/CLPD 

 
 Date Received : 23.10.22 

 
 Location : 53 Fairview Road Stevenage Herts SG1 2NT 

 
 Proposal : Lawful Development Certificate (Proposed) for hip-to-gable 

extension, 8no. rooflights and Juliet balcony. 
 

 Date of Decision : 30.11.22 
  

Decision : 
 
Certificate of Lawfulness is APPROVED 
 

 
 
38.  Application No : 22/00944/FPH 

 
 Date Received : 24.10.22 

 
 Location : 33 Trajan Gate Stevenage Herts SG2 7QG 

 
 Proposal : Retrospective planning permission for a gate opening on existing 

garden wall 
 

 Date of Decision : 08.12.22 
  

Decision : 
 
Planning Permission is GRANTED 
 

 
 
39.  Application No : 22/00955/TPTPO 

 
 Date Received : 31.10.22 

 
 Location : 32 Meadow Way Stevenage Herts SG1 1QD 

 
 Proposal : Crown lift to 3.5m and side reduce by 30% to suitable growth 

points to 1No: Oak Tree (T1) Protected by TPO 124  - Oak tree 
located to side of property 
 

 Date of Decision : 20.12.22 
  

Decision : 
 
CONSENT TO CARRY OUT WORKS TO A TREE, THE 
SUBJECT OF A TREE PRESERVATION ORDER 
 

 
 
40.  Application No : 22/00956/FPH 

 
 Date Received : 31.10.22 

 
 Location : 71 Nodes Drive Stevenage Herts SG2 8AH 

 
 Proposal : Erection of timber framed garden room 

 
 Date of Decision : 14.12.22 
  

Decision : 
 
Planning Permission is GRANTED 
 

Page 46



DC36 

 
 
41.  Application No : 22/00961/FP 

 
 Date Received : 01.11.22 

 
 Location : Unit 11 Gunnels Wood Park Gunnels Wood Road Stevenage 

 
 Proposal : Enclosure of a service yard and extension of first floor office 

accommodation 
 

 Date of Decision : 21.12.22 
  

Decision : 
 
Planning Permission is GRANTED 
 

 
 
42.  Application No : 22/00966/FP 

 
 Date Received : 02.11.22 

 
 Location : 374- 394 Canterbury Way Stevenage Herts SG1 4DY 

 
 Proposal : Re-roofing of existing flat roofs to main building and outdoor 

refuse stores, Re-cladding to external wall horizontal timber 
features.  
Replace windows, communal entrance doors and their communal 
glazing above. Replace existing roof gutters and visible rainwater 
pipes to main building and outdoor refuse stores. 
 

 Date of Decision : 20.12.22 
  

Decision : 
 
Planning Permission is GRANTED 
 

 
 
43.  Application No : 22/00968/FP 

 
 Date Received : 03.11.22 

 
 Location : 6 Badgers Close Stevenage Herts SG1 1UH 

 
 Proposal : Change of use of public amenity land to residential use 

 
 Date of Decision : 06.12.22 
  

Decision : 
 
Planning Permission is GRANTED 
 

 
 
44.  Application No : 22/00969/FPH 

 
 Date Received : 03.11.22 

 
 Location : 4 Ruckles Close Stevenage Herts SG1 1PE 

 
 Proposal : Proposed single storey front extension 

 
 Date of Decision : 21.12.22 
  

Decision : 
 
Planning Permission is GRANTED 

Page 47



DC36 

 
 
 
 
 
45.  Application No : 22/00972/FP 

 
 Date Received : 04.11.22 

 
 Location : 63A-65A Canterbury Way Stevenage Herts SG1 4LJ 

 
 Proposal : Replacement of roofing materials, gutters and rainwater pipes to 

main building and external storage facilities. Replacement of 
windows, doors and external wall timber cladding. 
 

 Date of Decision : 20.12.22 
  

Decision : 
 
Planning Permission is GRANTED 
 

 
 
46.  Application No : 22/00973/FP 

 
 Date Received : 04.11.22 

 
 Location : 444-464 Canterbury Way Stevenage Herts SG1 4EA 

 
 Proposal : Re-roofing of existing flat roofs to main building and outdoor 

refuse store.   Re-cladding to external wall horizontal timber 
features. 
Replace windows, communal entrance/exit doors and their 
communal glazing above. Renew existing roof gutters and 
rainwater pipes to main building. 
 

 Date of Decision : 20.12.22 
  

Decision : 
 
Planning Permission is GRANTED 
 

 
 
47.  Application No : 22/00974/FP 

 
 Date Received : 04.11.22 

 
 Location : 371- 375 Canterbury Way Stevenage Herts SG1 4EH 

 
 Proposal : Re-roofing to main building/ associated refuse stores. Re-

cladding of external wall horizontal timber features. Replacement 
of guttering/ downpipes. New windows to apartments and 
communal areas. Replacement front and rear entry communal 
doors and glazing above. 
 

 Date of Decision : 20.12.22 
  

Decision : 
 
Planning Permission is GRANTED 
 

 
  

Page 48



DC36 

 
 
48.  Application No : 22/00975/FP 

 
 Date Received : 04.11.22 

 
 Location : MBDA UK Six Hills Way Stevenage Herts 

 
 Proposal : External alteration to existing building comprising 1 no. roller 

shutter, installation of louvres, external lighting, construction of 
hardsurfacing area with associated engineering works. 
 

 Date of Decision : 13.12.22 
  

Decision : 
 
Planning Permission is GRANTED 
 

 
 
49.  Application No : 22/00976/FPH 

 
 Date Received : 04.11.22 

 
 Location : 44 Beane Avenue Stevenage Herts SG2 7DL 

 
 Proposal : Single storey infill front extension, fenestration alterations and 

conversion of garage to habitable accommodation. 
 

 Date of Decision : 06.12.22 
  

Decision : 
 
Planning Permission is GRANTED 
 

 
 
50.  Application No : 22/00977/FP 

 
 Date Received : 04.11.22 

 
 Location : 457 - 461 Canterbury Way Stevenage Herts SG1 4EQ 

 
 Proposal : Proposed re-roofing to main building, replacement guttering, 

downpipes and windows. 
 

 Date of Decision : 20.12.22 
  

Decision : 
 
Planning Permission is GRANTED 
 

 
 
51.  Application No : 22/00978/NMA 

 
 Date Received : 07.11.22 

 
 Location : Monkswood Retail Park Elder Way Stevenage Herts 

 
 Proposal : Non material amendment to planning permission reference 

number 22/00308/FP for minor re-siting of meter cabinet 
 

 Date of Decision : 05.12.22 
  

Decision : 
 
Non Material Amendment AGREED 
 

Page 49



DC36 

 
 
52.  Application No : 22/00989/FP 

 
 Date Received : 09.11.22 

 
 Location : 365 - 369 Canterbury Way Stevenage Herts SG1 4EH 

 
 Proposal : Proposed re-roofing to main building, replacement guttering, 

downpipes and windows. 
 

 Date of Decision : 19.12.22 
  

Decision : 
 
Planning Permission is GRANTED 
 

 
 
53.  Application No : 22/00990/FP 

 
 Date Received : 09.11.22 

 
 Location : 296 - 314 Canterbury Way Stevenage Herts SG1 4DT 

 
 Proposal : Proposed re-roofing to main building, replacement guttering, 

downpipes and windows 
 

 Date of Decision : 19.12.22 
  

Decision : 
 
Planning Permission is GRANTED 
 

 
 
54.  Application No : 22/00991/FP 

 
 Date Received : 09.11.22 

 
 Location : 275 - 279 Canterbury Way Stevenage Herts SG1 4EJ 

 
 Proposal : Proposed re-roofing to main building, replacement guttering, 

downpipes and windows. 
 

 Date of Decision : 19.12.22 
  

Decision : 
 
Planning Permission is GRANTED 
 

 
 
55.  Application No : 22/00992/FP 

 
 Date Received : 09.11.22 

 
 Location : 269 - 273 Canterbury Way Stevenage Herts SG1 4EJ 

 
 Proposal : Proposed re-roofing to main building, replacement guttering, 

downpipes and windows. 
 

 Date of Decision : 19.12.22 
  

Decision : 
 
Planning Permission is GRANTED 
 

 
Page 50



DC36 

 
56.  Application No : 22/00993/FP 

 
 Date Received : 09.11.22 

 
 Location : 187 - 191 Canterbury Way Stevenage Herts SG1 4LG 

 
 Proposal : Proposed re-roofing to main building, replacement guttering, 

downpipes and windows. 
 

 Date of Decision : 20.12.22 
  

Decision : 
 
Planning Permission is GRANTED 
 

 
 
57.  Application No : 22/00994/FP 

 
 Date Received : 09.11.22 

 
 Location : 181 - 185 Canterbury Way Stevenage Herts SG1 4LG 

 
 Proposal : Proposed re-roofing to main building, replacement guttering, 

downpipes and windows. 
 

 Date of Decision : 20.12.22 
  

Decision : 
 
Planning Permission is GRANTED 
 

 
 
58.  Application No : 22/00995/FP 

 
 Date Received : 09.11.22 

 
 Location : 93 - 97 Canterbury Way Stevenage Herts SG1 4LQ 

 
 Proposal : Proposed re-roofing to main building, replacement guttering, 

downpipes and windows. 
 

 Date of Decision : 20.12.22 
  

Decision : 
 
Planning Permission is GRANTED 
 

 
 
59.  Application No : 22/00996/FP 

 
 Date Received : 09.11.22 

 
 Location : 206 - 218 Canterbury Way Stevenage Herts SG1 4DN 

 
 Proposal : Proposed re-roofing to main building, replacement guttering, 

downpipes, external doors and windows. 
 

 Date of Decision : 12.12.22 
  

Decision : 
 
Planning Permission is GRANTED 
 

 
 

Page 51



DC36 

60.  Application No : 22/00997/FP 
 

 Date Received : 09.11.22 
 

 Location : 134 -146 Canterbury Way Stevenage Herts SG1 4DJ 
 

 Proposal : Proposed re-roofing to main building, replacement guttering, 
downpipes, external doors and windows. 
 

 Date of Decision : 12.12.22 
  

Decision : 
 
Planning Permission is GRANTED 
 

 
 
61.  Application No : 22/00998/FP 

 
 Date Received : 09.11.22 

 
 Location : 74- 86 Canterbury Way Stevenage Herts SG1 4DH 

 
 Proposal : Proposed re-roofing to main building, replacement guttering, 

downpipes, external doors and windows. 
 

 Date of Decision : 12.12.22 
  

Decision : 
 
Planning Permission is GRANTED 
 

 
 
62.  Application No : 22/00999/TPCA 

 
 Date Received : 09.11.22 

 
 Location : Humphrey's End Rectory Lane Stevenage Herts 

 
 Proposal : Fell 1no. Ash tree 

 
 Date of Decision : 20.12.22 
  

Decision : 
 
CONSENT TO CARRY OUT WORKS TO A TREE IN A 
CONSERVATION AREA 
 

 
 
63.  Application No : 22/01000/FP 

 
 Date Received : 09.11.22 

 
 Location : 374 - 386 York Road Stevenage Herts SG1 4EL 

 
 Proposal : Proposed re-roofing to main building, replacement guttering, 

downpipes and windows. 
 

 Date of Decision : 13.12.22 
  

Decision : 
 
Planning Permission is GRANTED 
 

 
  

Page 52



DC36 

 
 
 
 
 
 
64.  Application No : 22/01005/FP 

 
 Date Received : 10.11.22 

 
 Location : 338 - 354 York Road Stevenage Herts SG1 4EL 

 
 Proposal : Proposed replacement of roof to main building and bin stores; 

replacement guttering, downpipes, windows, external doors and 
horizontal cladding. 
 

 Date of Decision : 13.12.22 
  

Decision : 
 
Planning Permission is GRANTED 
 

 
 
65.  Application No : 22/01006/FP 

 
 Date Received : 10.11.22 

 
 Location : 206 - 222 Durham Road Stevenage Herts SG1 4JB 

 
 Proposal : Proposed re-roofing to main building, replacement guttering, 

downpipes, windows, exernal doors and horizontal cladding; 
replacement roofing, guttering and downpipes to attached 
garages. 
 

 Date of Decision : 19.12.22 
  

Decision : 
 
Planning Permission is GRANTED 
 

 
 
66.  Application No : 22/01007/FP 

 
 Date Received : 10.11.22 

 
 Location : 180 - 196 Durham Road Stevenage Herts SG1 4JA 

 
 Proposal : Proposed re-roofing to main building, replacement guttering, 

downpipes, windows, external doors and horizontal cladding. 
 

 Date of Decision : 19.12.22 
  

Decision : 
 
Planning Permission is GRANTED 
 

 
  

Page 53



DC36 

 
 
 
 
 
 
67.  Application No : 22/01009/NMA 

 
 Date Received : 11.11.22 

 
 Location : 22 Basils Road Stevenage Herts SG1 3PX 

 
 Proposal : Non material amendment to planning permission 19/00287/FP to 

change materials of external doors and windows from timber to 
UPVC 
 

 Date of Decision : 08.12.22 
  

Decision : 
 
Non Material Amendment AGREED 
 

 
 
68.  Application No : 22/01012/FP 

 
 Date Received : 11.11.22 

 
 Location : 141 - 159 Durham Road Stevenage Herts SG1 4JW 

 
 Proposal : Proposed re-roofing to main building, replacement guttering, 

downpipes, windows, external doors and horizontal cladding. 
 

 Date of Decision : 19.12.22 
  

Decision : 
 
Planning Permission is GRANTED 
 

 
 
69.  Application No : 22/01013/FP 

 
 Date Received : 11.11.22 

 
 Location : 110 - 128 Durham Road Stevenage Herts SG1 4HY 

 
 Proposal : Proposed re-roofing to main building, replacement guttering, 

downpipes, windows, exernal doors and horizontal cladding; 
replacement roofing, guttering and downpipes to attached 
garages. 
 

 Date of Decision : 19.12.22 
  

Decision : 
 
Planning Permission is GRANTED 
 

 
  

Page 54



DC36 

 
 
70.  Application No : 22/01015/FP 

 
 Date Received : 14.11.22 

 
 Location : 124 - 136 York Road Stevenage Herts SG1 4HF 

 
 Proposal : Replacement of roofing, external cladding, guttering, windows 

and communal doors and glazing 
 

 Date of Decision : 13.12.22 
  

Decision : 
 
Planning Permission is GRANTED 
 

 
 
71.  Application No : 22/01016/FP 

 
 Date Received : 14.11.22 

 
 Location : 107 - 119 York Road Stevenage Herts SG1 4EU 

 
 Proposal : Proposed re-roofing to main building, replacement guttering, 

downpipes, windows, external doors and horizontal cladding. 
 

 Date of Decision : 13.12.22 
  

Decision : 
 
Planning Permission is GRANTED 
 

 
 
72.  Application No : 22/01018/FP 

 
 Date Received : 14.11.22 

 
 Location : 38-64 York Road Stevenage Herts SG1 4HE 

 
 Proposal : Replacement of roofing, external cladding, guttering, windows, 

communal screening and communal doors. 
 

 Date of Decision : 13.12.22 
  

Decision : 
 
Planning Permission is GRANTED 
 

 
 
73.  Application No : 22/01029/FP 

 
 Date Received : 16.11.22 

 
 Location : 5 - 17 York Road Stevenage Herts SG1 4ET 

 
 Proposal : Replacement of roofing, external cladding, guttering, windows, 

communal screening and communal doors. 
 

 Date of Decision : 21.12.22 
  

Decision : 
 
Planning Permission is GRANTED 
 

 
Page 55



DC36 

 
74.  Application No : 22/01030/FP 

 
 Date Received : 16.11.22 

 
 Location : 10 - 36 Canterbury Way Stevenage Herts SG1 4DG 

 
 Proposal : Replacement of roofing, external cladding, guttering, windows, 

communal screening and communal doors. 
 

 Date of Decision : 20.12.22 
  

Decision : 
 
Planning Permission is GRANTED 
 

 
 
75.  Application No : 22/01031/HPA 

 
 Date Received : 17.11.22 

 
 Location : 105 Shephall View Stevenage Herts SG1 1RP 

 
 Proposal : Single storey rear extension which will extend beyond the rear 

wall of the original house by 3.00m, for which the maximum height 
will be 3.39m and the height of the eaves will be 2.80m 
 

 Date of Decision : 19.12.22 
  

Decision : 
 
Prior Approval is REQUIRED and REFUSED 
 
The enlarged part of the dwellinghouse would extend beyond a 
wall forming a side elevation of the original dwellinghouse and 
would have a width greater than half the width of the original 
dwellinghouse. Therefore, the proposed development does not 
comply with Paragraph A.1(j)(iii) of Part 1 of Schedule 2 to the 
Town and Country Planning (General Permitted Development) 
(England) Order 2015 (as amended). 

 
 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 

1. The application file, forms, plans and supporting documents having the reference 
number relating to this item. 

 
2. Stevenage Borough Council Supplementary Planning Documents – Parking Provision 

adopted January 2020. 
 

3. Stevenage Borough Local Plan 2011-2031 adopted May 2019. 
 

4. Hertfordshire County Council’s Local Transport Plan 4 adopted May 2018.  
 

5. Responses to consultations with statutory undertakers and other interested parties 
referred to in this report. 

 
6. Central Government advice contained in the National Planning Policy Framework 

February 2019 and Planning Policy Guidance March 2014. 

Page 56



DC36 

 

 

Page 57



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 58



 Part I – Release 
to Press 

 

 
 

 

Meeting: Planning and Development 
Committee 

Agenda Item:  

Date: Tuesday 10 January 2023   

INFORMATION REPORT - APPEALS / CALLED IN APPLICATIONS 

Author – Linda Sparrow 01438 242242 

Lead Officer – Zayd Al-Jawad 01438 242257 

Contact Officer – James Chettleburgh 01438 242242 

1. APPEALS RECEIVED 

1.1 22/00307/ENF.  Car park to side of 8 Aintree Way.  Appeal against the serving of an 
enforcement notice to remove the structure built around the car parking space and return 
the communal parking spaces to their original condition. 
 

2. DECISIONS AWAITED 

2.1 21/01152/ENF.  68 Basils Road.  Appeal against the serving of an enforcement notice to 
remove the first floor of the two storey rear extension which was refused under planning 
permission reference number 21/01256/FPH.  

 
2.2 21/01256/FPH.  68 Basils Road.  Appeal against the refusal of planning permission for the 

retention of a part two storey, part single storey rear extension. 
 

2.3 21/01101/FP, 303 Ripon Road.  Appeal against refusal of planning permission for the 
conversion of 1 no. 4 bedroom dwelling to 3 no. studios, single storey front and rear 
extensions and conversion of garage including the change of use from public amenity land 
to residential use and associated parking. 
 

2.4 21/00717/ENFAPL, 134 Marymead Drive.  Appeal against the serving of an Enforcement 
Notice relating to the unauthorised erection of an outbuilding and front extension. 
 

2.5 21/01025/ENFAPL, 7 Boxfield Green.  Appeal against the serving of an Enforcement Notice 
relating to the development not in accordance with approved plans under planning 
permission reference number 17/00734/FPH. 

 
3. DECISIONS RECEIVED 
  
3.1 21/00057/FP, Land Between Watercress Close, Coopers Close and Walnut Tree Close.  

Appeal against refusal of planning permission for the erection of two detached dwelling 
houses including new site access from Watercress Close and 560sqm of publicly 
accessible open space to the south of the site. 
 

3.2 The appeal was allowed and planning permission was granted subject to conditions. The 
appeal was also subject to the completion of a Section 106 Legal agreement to secure 
financial obligations relating to Biodiversity Net Gain.  
 

3.3 In his decision letter, the inspector understood that prior to the enclosure of the open space, 
the site was maintained by the Council and formed a well-used open space for various 

Page 59

Agenda Item 6



- 2 - 

forms of recreation and provided access through the housing estate. However, the 
inspector noted that following the erection of hoardings, the site no longer functions as a 
public open space. 
 

3.4 The inspector sets out that the appeal site is in private ownership and whilst He appreciates 
it can serve as public open space, He points out that there is no apparent mechanism to 
compel the landowner to return the site to its former use. As such, the inspector considered 
that if the appeal was dismissed, the evidence before him does not suggest that the site 
has a realistic prospect of being brought back into use as public open space. Consequently, 
the inspector considered the appeal proposal would not compromise the access to the use 
of the land as public open space, since such access has already ceased.  
 

3.5 Given the appeal site is inaccessible to the public and no longer functions as open space, 
the proposal would accord with the requirements of Local Plan Policy NH6 which permits 
the development of open space in such circumstances. In addition, as a small, vacant site, 
the inspector also considered it satisfied the requirements of Local Plan Policy HO5. The 
inspector noted that the Council had raised concerns the appeal proposal would set an 
undesirable precedent for the loss of open spaces through development. However, the 
inspector argued that the local area appears green in character with amenity land and open 
spaces as common features within the street. Therefore, whilst such spaces could attract 
development proposals in the future, the inspector did not consider his decision would 
create a precedent since he reached his decision based on the specific merits of the case 
and found it accords with the Development Plan.  
 
Other matters 
 

3.6 The inspector noted that written comments and objections were submitted by local people 
in response to the proposal. The inspector explains that he has a great deal of sympathy 
with those residents with respect to the loss of the recreational function of the site prior to 
its enclosure. However, the inspector has based his decision on the evidence before him 
along with his observations of the site’s present condition.  
 

3.7 In terms of the concerns raised that the proposal conflicts with the requirements of the 
original 1980s permission for the estate, the inspector argues that his decision is in 
accordance with the current Development Plan, as required by Planning Law. In terms of 
some comments about the former value of the site in providing connections to surrounding 
streets, the inspector argues that the proposed development would include an area of open 
space which would reinstate pedestrian access. Therefore, he considered this to be a 
public benefit of the scheme.  
 

3.8 With respect to concerns about impact on wildlife, the inspector points out there is a 
completed S.106 agreement with a financial obligation towards biodiversity enhancements. 
He considers this obligation to meets the tests in the NPPF and therefore, considers this is 
also a benefit of the scheme. In relation to concerns around the design of the scheme and 
effects on living conditions, reference is made to the officers committee report and it is 
noted that the Council did not consider these were reasons to refuse the application. In 
addition, the inspector advises that he has been provided no substantive evidence which 
would prompt him to disagree with the Council’s conclusions on these matters. 
 
Conclusion 
 

3.9 Subject to the inclusion of conditions, the inspector concluded the development accords 
with the development plan taken as a whole and therefore, sets out that the appeal should 
succeed.  

 

 
 

Page 60



  

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate 

 
 

 

Appeal Decision  

Site visit made on 22 November 2022  
by E Dade BA (Hons) MSc MRTPI 

an Inspector appointed by the Secretary of State  

Decision date: 9 December 2022 

 
Appeal Ref: APP/K1935/W/22/3298826 

Land between Watercress Close, Coopers Close and Walnut Tree Close, 
Stevenage SG2 9TN  
• The appeal is made under section 78 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 

against a refusal to grant planning permission. 

• The appeal is made by Mr C Serban of SER Homes Ltd against the decision of Stevenage 

Borough Council. 

• The application Ref 21/00057/FP, dated 30 January 2021, was refused by notice dated 

20 December 2021. 

• The development proposed is the erection of two four-bedroom dwelling houses. 

Decision 

1. The appeal is allowed and planning permission is granted for the erection of 
two four-bedroom dwelling houses at land between Watercress Close, Coopers 

Close and Walnut Tree Close, Stevenage SG2 9TN in accordance with the terms 
of the application, Ref 21/00057/FP, dated 30 January 2021, subject to the 

conditions contained within the attached Schedule.  

Preliminary Matters 

2. For clarity regarding the site’s location, I have used the site address stated on 

the Council’s Decision Notice which includes the three streets which abut the 
site.  

Main Issue 

3. The main issue in this appeal is the effects of the proposal on the provision of 
open space. 

Reasons 

4. The appeal site is an undeveloped area of gently sloping, mown grassland 

situated within a modern housing estate. The site’s boundary is planted with a 
mix of shrubs and occasional small trees and is enclosed by fences at the 
boundaries of adjacent gardens. The site is surrounded by dwellings and 

adjoins Walnut Tree Close, a winding estate road, and connects to turning 
heads at Watercress Close and Coopers Close. 

5. During my site visit I found each of the site’s access points closed off by tall 
hoardings and as such the site is inaccessible from the public highway. Details 
of the site’s planning history indicates the site was subject to a previous appeal 

decision which confirmed that the enclosure of the land through the erection of 
hoardings at the site’s accesses does not constitute a breach of planning 

Page 61

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/K1935/W/22/3298826

 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          2 

control and is permitted development1. The previous appeal decision suggests 

the site has been inaccessible to the public for more than two years. 

6. It is my understanding that, prior to its enclosure, the site was maintained by 

the Council and formed a well-used open space for various forms of recreation 
and provided access through the housing estate. It is evident that following the 
erection of the hoardings, the site no longer functions as a public open space.  

7. The site is in private ownership and whilst privately owned land can serve as 
public open space, in this case there is no apparent mechanism to compel the 

landowner to return the site to its former use. In the event that the appeal 
were dismissed, the evidence before me does not suggest that the site has a 
realistic prospect of being brought back into use as a public open space. 

Consequently, I consider that the proposal would not compromise the access to 
and use of the land as a public open space, since public access to the site has 

already ceased.  

8. Policy NH6 of the Stevenage Borough Local Plan 2019 (SBLP) indicates that the 
loss of open space through granting of planning permission for development 

will be justified where certain criteria are met. Since the appeal site is 
inaccessible to the public and it no longer functions as an open space, the 

proposal would accord with the requirements of SBLP policy NH6 which permits 
the development of open space in such circumstances. 

9. The Planning Officer’s Report considers a range of planning issues and has 

concluded that the proposal would provide satisfactory living conditions and 
would not prejudice the environment or infrastructure. The appeal site is a 

small, vacant site located within Stevenage’s urban area. Consequently, I 
consider that the site would satisfy the requirements of SBLP Policy HO5 which 
supports windfall development of housing on unallocated urban sites.  

10. The Council has raised concerns that the appeal proposal would set an 
undesirable precedent for the loss of open spaces through development. The 

local area appears green in character with amenity land and open spaces a 
common feature within the street scene. Whilst such spaces could attract 
development proposals in the future, I do not consider that my decision would 

create a precedent since I have reached my decision based on the specific 
merits of the case and found that it accords with the Development Plan. 

Other Matters 

11. Numerous written comments and objections were submitted by local people in 
response to the proposal. I have a great deal of sympathy with those residents 

lamenting the loss of the recreational function of the site prior to its enclosure. 
However, as discussed above, I have based my decision on the evidence 

available to me including my observations of the site’s present condition. 

12. Concerns were raised that the proposal appears to conflict with requirements of 

the original planning permission for the development of the housing estate in 
the late 1980s. I have determined the appeal in accordance with the present 
Development Plan as required by planning law2. 

 
1 Appeal reference: APP/K1935/C/20/3251206 
2 S38(6) of Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 and s70(2) of Town and Country Planning Act 1990. 

Page 62

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/K1935/W/22/3298826

 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          3 

13. Some respondents identified the former value of the site in providing 

connections to surrounding streets. The proposed development would include 
an area of open space which would reinstate pedestrian access between Walnut 

Tree Close and Coopers Close. I therefore consider this improvement to 
accessibility to be a public benefit of the scheme. 

14. A number of respondents raised concerns regarding the effects of the proposal 

on wildlife and habitats. I have been provided with a completed s106 
agreement which includes a planning obligation securing a financial 

contribution to mitigate the effects of the proposal and deliver a net gain in 
biodiversity through off-site biodiversity enhancements within the borough as 
per the requirements of the Council’s Biodiversity Supplementary Planning 

Guidance (2021). I am satisfied that the planning obligation meets the tests set 
out in para. 57 of the National Planning Policy Framework as the obligation is 

necessary to make the development acceptable in planning terms and is 
directly related and fairly and reasonably related in scale and kind to the 
development. Since the planning obligation would ensure the proposal delivers 

a net gain in biodiversity, I consider this a benefit of the scheme.  

15. Issues relating to the design of the scheme and its effects on living conditions 

and local infrastructure have been brought to my attention. These issues are 
largely identified and considered within the Council’s delegated report, and it is 
noted that the Council did not consider these were reasons to refuse the 

application. I have been provided with no substantive evidence which would 
prompt me to disagree with the Council’s conclusions on these matters. To 

ensure the development is acceptable in planning terms, I have attached 
planning conditions to this decision, as discussed in the following section. 

Conditions 

16. The Council has provided a list of conditions which I have considered carefully 
against the Framework’s tests. I have attached a condition specifying the 

approved plans in the interests of providing certainty. Conditions regarding 
external materials, landscaping and boundary treatment are necessary in the 
interests of maintaining the area’s character and appearance. 

17. Conditions specifying the periods when vegetation may be removed and 
requiring the provision of features for wildlife to be integrated into the new 

development are necessary to conserve and enhance biodiversity. 

18. I have included a condition to secure the provision of the proposed open space 
and ensure it remains accessible for the lifetime of the development. To 

safeguard the living conditions of the occupiers of neighbouring properties, I 
have included conditions requiring the written approval of a Construction 

Management Plan and specified the hours when construction shall take place. I 
have included a condition requiring the provision of adequate water 

infrastructure provision on site for the local fire service to discharge its 
statutory firefighting duties. 

19. To ensure the development is adaptable to climate change through provision of 

energy and water efficiency measures, I have attached a condition requiring 
details of such measures be submitted to the Council. 

Page 63

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/K1935/W/22/3298826

 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          4 

20. In the interests of highway safety, I have included conditions to secure suitable 

vehicular access, to limit external lighting without the Council’s approval, and 
to provide adequate parking provision. 

21. At the time of this decision, building regulations require the provision of electric 
vehicle charging points. I have therefore not included the Council’s suggested 
condition relating to this matter as it is no longer necessary. 

Conclusion 

22. For the reasons given above, the development accords with the development 

plan taken as a whole and therefore I conclude that the appeal should succeed. 

 

E Dade  

INSPECTOR 
 
 

  

Page 64

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/K1935/W/22/3298826

 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          5 

Schedule of Conditions 

1) The development hereby permitted shall begin not later than 3 years from the 
date of this decision. 

2) The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the 
following approved plans:1802-P-01-0000-ZXX; 1802-P-01-0003-ZXX-06; 1802-
P-01-0100-Z00-04; 1802-P-01-0101-Z00-04; 1802-P-01-0102-Z00-04; 1802-P-

01-0103-Z00-04; 1802-P-01-0110-Z00-04; 1802-P-01-0111-Z00-05; 1802-P-
01-0112-Z00-04; 1802-P-01-0113-Z00-05; 1802-P-01-0120-Z00-04; 1802-P-

01-0121-Z00-04; 1802-P-01-0002-ZXX-07; 1802-P-01-0001-ZXX-08; 
AVAL/91326/VS/001-C. 

3) The external surfaces of the development hereby permitted shall be constructed 

in the materials shown on the approved plans. 

4) Prior to first occupation of the development, a scheme of landscaping shall be 

submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. The scheme 
shall include indications of all existing trees and hedgerows on the land, identify 
those to be retained and set out measures for their protection throughout the 

course of development. 

5) Prior to first occupation of the development, a landscape management plan, 

including long term design objectives, management responsibilities and 
maintenance schedules for all landscape areas, shall be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the local planning authority. The landscape management 

plan shall be carried out as approved. 

6) All planting, seeding or turfing comprised in the approved details of landscaping 

shall be carried out in the first planting and seeding seasons following the 
occupation of the buildings or the completion of the development, whichever is 
the sooner; and any trees or plants which within a period of 5 years from the 

completion of the development die, are removed or become seriously damaged 
or diseased shall be replaced in the next planting season with others of similar 

size and species. 

7) No removal of trees, scrub or hedges, shall be carried out on site between the 
1st March and 31st August inclusive in any year, unless searched beforehand by 

a suitably qualified ornithologist. 

8) No development shall take place until a Construction Management Plan has been 

submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The Plan 
shall include details of –  

a) Map showing the location of construction traffic routes to and from the 

site, details of their signing, monitoring and enforcement measures; 

b) Access arrangements to the site; 

c) Traffic management requirements; 

d) Site set up and general arrangements for storing plant, materials, 

machinery and equipment, temporary offices and other facilities as 
applicable; 

e) Details of provisions for temporary car parking, loading/unloading and 

vehicle turning areas; 

f) Details of any hoarding; 

g) Control of dust and dirt on the public highway; 

Page 65

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/K1935/W/22/3298826

 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          6 

h) Siting and details of wheel washing facilities; 

i) Cleaning of site entrances, site tracks and the adjacent public highway; 

j) Timing of construction activities (including delivery times and removal of 

waste); 

k) The estimated number and type of vehicles per day/week; 

l) Details of any vehicle holding area; 

m) Details of the vehicle call up procedure; 

n) Access and protection arrangements around the site for pedestrians, 

cyclists and other customers; 

o) Post construction restoration/reinstatement of the working areas and 
temporary access to the public highway; 

p) Details of consultation and complaint management with neighbours; 

q) A Site Waste Management Plan (SWMP) including mechanisms to deal 

with environmental impacts such as air quality and dust control 
measures, noise and vibration restriction measures, light and odour and 
predicted and latterly actual waste arisings and how this is to be 

managed and where it is sent to; 

r) Details of any proposed piling operations, including justification for the 

proposed piling strategy, a vibration impact assessment and proposed 
control and mitigation measures. 

The approved Construction Management Plan shall be adhered to throughout the 

construction period for the development. 

9) No development above ground level shall take place until a scheme for the 

provision of adequate water supplies and fire hydrants, necessary for firefighting 
purposes at the site, has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. The development shall not be occupied until the scheme has 

been implemented in accordance with the approved details.  

10) Notwithstanding the details shown in this application the treatment of all 

boundaries including details of any walls, fences, gates or other means of 
enclosure, to include suitable access for hedgehogs, shall be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority prior to the commencement 

of development.  The approved boundary treatments shall be completed before 
the dwellings are occupied. 

11) Prior to first occupation of the development, details of the model and location of 
2 integrated bat boxes and 2 integrated swift boxes shall be supplied to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority and shall be fully installed 

and retained thereafter. 

12) No development above ground level shall take place until a detailed scheme of 

the open space provision, management and maintenance of, has been submitted 
to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The scheme shall 

include the location, dimensions/size and layout of the open space (be reference 
to a plan), its regular maintenance of and how the space will be managed to 
ensure its continued availability to the public. The open space shall thereafter be 

provided and maintained in full accordance with the approved details. 

Page 66

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/K1935/W/22/3298826

 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          7 

13) The area of open space as identified on the approved block plan and in 

accordance with condition 12 shall be used only for the provision of publicly 
available open space and for no other means, at any time.  

14) No development above ground level shall take place until details of measures to 
address adaptation to climate change have been submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority. These measures shall then be 

implemented and permanently maintained in accordance with the approved 
details. 

15) No external lighting shall be installed on site unless details of such lighting, 
including the intensity of illumination and predicted light contours, have first 
been submitted to, and approved in writing the Local Planning Authority prior to 

first occupation of the development. Any external lighting shall accord with the 
details so approved. 

16) Demolition or construction works shall take place only between the hours of 0730 
and 1800 on Mondays to Fridays and between the hours of 0800 and 1300 on 
Saturdays and shall not take place at any time on Sundays or on Bank or Public 

Holidays. 

17) Prior to first occupation of the development, the vehicular access shall be 

completed and thereafter retained as shown on drawing number 1802-P-01-
0000-ZXX in accordance with details/specification to be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Prior to use appropriate 

arrangements shall be made for surface water to be intercepted and disposed of 
separately so that it does not discharge from or onto the highway carriageway. 

The discharge of this condition requires a Section 278 (highway works 
agreement) to be entered in to. 

18) Prior to first occupation of the development, the proposed parking arrangements, 

in the form of driveways and garages shall be provided and made available for 
use in accordance with the approved block plan and shall thereafter be used for 

no other purpose than the parking of vehicles in perpetuity.  

 

 

 

Page 67

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


This page is intentionally left blank

Page 68


	Agenda
	3 22/00833/FP and 22/00833/LB - 67 - 69 HIGH STREET, STEVENAGE (DEAMERS)
	4 22/00834/AD - 67 - 69 HIGH STREET, STEVENAGE (DEAMERS)
	5 INFORMATION REPORT - DELEGATED DECISIONS
	6 INFORMATION REPORT - APPEALS/CALLED IN APPLICATIONS
	Decision 3298826


